CHEMICAL REVIEWS



Ubiquitin-like Protein Conjugation: Structures, Chemistry, and Mechanism

Laurent Cappadocia[†] and Christopher D. Lima^{*,†,‡}

[†]Structural Biology Program, Sloan Kettering Institute, New York, New York 10021, United States [‡]Howard Hughes Medical Institute, Sloan Kettering Institute, New York, New York 10021, United States

ABSTRACT: Ubiquitin-like proteins (Ubl's) are conjugated to target proteins or lipids to regulate their activity, stability, subcellular localization, or macromolecular interactions. Similar to ubiquitin, conjugation is achieved through a cascade of activities that are catalyzed by E1 activating enzymes, E2 conjugating enzymes, and E3 ligases. In this review, we will summarize structural and mechanistic details of enzymes and protein cofactors that participate in Ubl conjugation cascades. Precisely, we will focus on conjugation machinery in the SUMO, NEDD8, ATG8, ATG12, URM1, UFM1, FAT10, and ISG15 pathways while referring to the ubiquitin pathway to highlight common or contrasting themes. We will also review various strategies used to trap intermediates during Ubl activation and conjugation.



CONTENTS

1. Introduction	890
2. Ubiquitin-like Proteins	890
2.1. Gene Number and Organization	891
2.2. Structure	891
2.3. Substrates	891
3. Ubl Binding Motifs	891
3.1. SUMO Binding Domains	892
3.2. LC3 Interacting Regions (LIRs)	892
4. E1 Activating Enzymes	893
4.1. Canonical E1s	894
4.1.1. Adenylation Reaction	894
4.1.2. Thioester Formation	895
4.1.3. Ubl Transfer to E2s	895
4.1.4. Directionality of the Reaction	897
4.1.5. Ubl Specificity	897
4.1.6. E2 Specificity	897
4.1.7. Regulation	897
4.2. Noncanonical E1s	898
4.2.1. UBA4: URM1 E1	898
4.2.2. ATG7: Dual E1 for ATG8 and ATG12	898
4.2.3. UBA5: UFM1 E1	899
5. E2 Conjugating Enzymes	899
5.1. Reactions	899
5.2. Active Site Organization	899
5.3. Target Selection	901
5.4. Dynamics	902
5.5. Backside Binding by Ubl's	902
5.6. E2 Modifications	902
6. E3 Ligases	903
6.1. RING Ligases	903
6.1.1. RING Domain and its Variants	903

6.1.2. E2 Binding	903
6.1.3. E2~Ubl Binding and Activation	903
6.1.4. Substrate Interaction	904
6.2. Atypical E3 Ligases	905
6.2.1. SIM-Based SUMO E3 Ligases	905
6.2.2. UFL1	906
6.2.3. ATG12–ATG5	906
7. Trapping Intermediates in Conjugation Cascades	906
7.1. E1 Activation Intermediates	907
7.2. Transthiolation Intermediates for E1/E2	907
7.3. E2~Ubl Mimics	908
7.3.1. Oxyester	908
7.3.2. Disulfide	909
7.3.3. Isopeptide	909
7.3.4. Thioether	909
7.3.5. Substrate and Product Complexes	909
7.4. Trapping E2/E3 Complexes	909
7.5. Trapping Ubl~E2/Substrate Complexes	910
8. Conclusion and Future Challenges	910
Author Information	910
Corresponding Author	910
ORCID	910
Notes	910
Biographies	910
Acknowledgments	910
Abbreviations	911
References	911

Special Issue: Posttranslational Protein Modifications

Received: November 1, 2016 Published: February 24, 2017



Chemical Reviews

1. INTRODUCTION

Ubiquitin was isolated in the 1970s as a ubiquitous protein that is conjugated to other proteins through a peptide bond between its C-terminal glycine and a primary amine on the substrate, most typically a lysine residue. Conjugation was subsequently shown to be dependent on the successive activities of enzymes named E1, E2, and E3. In the 1980s, biochemical studies elucidated the chemical reactions catalyzed by these enzymes. Mostly in the 1990s and 2000s, several protein families were discovered that are evolutionarily related to ubiquitin insofar as they share the ubiquitin fold and the capacity to be conjugated to substrates through the concerted action of evolutionarily related E1s, E2s, and E3s (Figure 1).



Figure 1. Ubl conjugation cascade where E1, E2, E3, and Ubl designate an E1 conjugating enzyme, an E2 conjugation enzyme, an E3 ligase, and a ubiquitin-like protein, respectively.

These proteins are now collectively referred to as Ubl's, an acronym for ubiquitin-like proteins. Studies on various Ubl conjugation cascades have notably addressed: (i) Ubl recognition by cognate conjugation enzymes, (ii) chemical mechanisms used during conjugation, (iii) substrate specificity, (iv) determinants for substrate modification by one or more Ubl's (chains), and (v) regulation of the conjugation machinery and cross-talk with other post-translational modifications.

In this review, we will focus on structural and mechanistic studies that provided insight into reactions and specificities for the eukaryotic ubiquitin-like conjugation machinery in the past five years, going back further at times to highlight important contributions to the Ubl field. Ubiquitin conjugation cascades have been the subject of numerous recent reviews^{1–8} and will not be covered in depth here, but we will refer to mechanisms in the ubiquitin pathway to highlight common or contrasting themes. We will also limit our review to eukaryotic proteins although proteins related to ubiquitin are present in bacteria and archaea (reviewed in Burroughs et al.⁹). In bacteria, the proteins MoaD and ThiS share structural similarity with

ubiquitin while MoeB and ThiF share structural and mechanistic similarities with the ubiquitin E1.^{10,11} However, these proteins are involved in sulfur metabolism rather than protein conjugation. In archaea, small archaeal modifier proteins (SAMPs) are related to ubiquitin and can be conjugated to proteins (this is also reviewed in Maupin-Furlow¹³).¹² While the conjugation machinery appears limited to SAMPs and proteins similar to eukaryotic E1 in most archaea, an intriguing operon-like cluster was identified in *Candidatus* Caldiarchaeum subterraneum that encodes a Ubl and proteins related to eukaryotic E1, E2, and E3.¹⁴ Ubiquitin and components of its conjugation system predate the emergence of eukaryotes; however, it is clear that eukaryogenesis resulted in a massive increase in the number of Ub/Ubl genes and pathways,^{15,16} the primary focus of this review.

At the end of this review, we will describe strategies that enabled investigators to trap and characterize transient intermediates during conjugation. Concerning nomenclature, we employ a slash (/) to indicate noncovalent interactions, a tilde (\sim) to indicate thioester bonds, and a dash (-) to indicate other covalent interactions. The names E1, E2, and E3, will be followed by the name of the protein in subscript (for example, E2_{UBC9}). Finally, Ubl's form families of different sizes and the names of the individual family members can vary according to the organism. For simplicity, we will be referring to the Ubl's using generic names such as SUMO, NEDD8, ATG8, ATG12, URM1, UFM1, FAT10, and ISG15.

2. UBIQUITIN-LIKE PROTEINS

Ubl's encompass a family of proteins that share structural and evolutionary relationships with ubiquitin. Each family member possesses a β -grasp fold composed of a five-stranded β -sheet that partially wraps around a central α -helix.^{17,18} Ubl's have historically been divided into two types based on whether they are conjugated to substrates: type I Ubl's are conjugated and type II Ubl's are not.¹⁹ Type II Ubl's are generally observed in the context of multidomain proteins, and while they can be found in proteins not directly related to Ubl conjugation cascades, many are observed in certain E1 activating enzymes, E3 ligases, and Ub/Ubl proteases. Hub1 and Esc2, proteins where autonomous Ubl folds are observed, may also be considered as type II Ubl's as they have not been observed conjugated to substrates.²⁰⁻²² The protein FUBI is genetically fused with the 40S ribosomal protein S30 as part of the FAU protein.²³ Although FAU undergoes proteolytic processing to release FUBI with a C-terminal diglycine motif, a hallmark of type I Ubl's, it is considered as a de facto type II Ubl because there is no evidence to date that FUBI undergoes conjugation.

Table 1. Ubl's and Their E1 and E2 in Human and Budding Ye
--

proteins in H. sapiens			pro	oteins in S. cerevi	isiae
Ubl	E1	E2	Ubl	E1	E2
SUMO1, SUMO2, SUMO3, SUMO4 ^a	UBA2/SAE1	UBC9	Smt3	Uba2/Aos1	Ubc9
NEDD8	UBA3/NAE1	UBC12, UBE2F	Rub1	Uba3/Ula1	Ubc12
LC3A, LC3B, LC3B2, LC3C, GABARAP, GABARAPL1, GATE-16 ^a	ATG7	ATG3	Atg8	Atg7	Atg3
Atg12	ATG7	ATG10	Atg12	Atg7	Atg10
URM1	UBA4	-	Urm1	Uba4	-
UFM1	UBA5	UFC1	-	_	-
FAT10	UBA6	UBE2Z ^b	-	_	-
ISG15	UBA7	UBCH8 ^b	-	-	-
	proteins in <i>H. sapiens</i> Ubl SUMO1, SUMO2, SUMO3, SUMO4 ^a NEDD8 LC3A, LC3B, LC3B2, LC3C, GABARAP, GABARAPL1, GATE-16 ^a Atg12 URM1 UFM1 FAT10 ISG15	proteins in H. sapiensUblE1SUMO1, SUMO2, SUMO3, SUMO4"UBA2/SAE1NEDD8UBA3/NAE1LC3A, LC3B, LC3B2, LC3C, GABARAP, GABARAPL1, GATE-16"ATG7Atg12ATG7URM1UBA4UFM1UBA5FAT10UBA6ISG15UBA7	proteins in H. sapiensUblE1E2SUMO1, SUMO2, SUMO3, SUMO4 ^a UBA2/SAE1UBC9NEDD8UBA3/NAE1UBC12, UBE2FLC3A, LC3B, LC3B2, LC3C, GABARAP, GABARAPL1, GATE-16 ^a ATG7ATG3Atg12ATG7ATG10URM1UBA4-UFM1UBA5UFC1FAT10UBA6UBE2Z ^b ISG15UBC18UBC18	proteins in H. sapiensproteins in H. sapiensUblE1E2UblSUMO1, SUMO2, SUMO3, SUMO4 ^a UBA2/SAE1UBC9Smt3NEDD8UBA3/NAE1UBC12, UBE2FRub1LC3A, LC3B, LC3B2, LC3C, GABARAP, GABARAPL1, GATE-16 ^a ATG7ATG3Atg8Atg12ATG7ATG10Atg12URM1UBA4-Urm1UFM1UBA5UFC1-FAT10UBA6UBE22 ^b -ISG15UBA7UBCH8 ^b -	proteins in H. sapiensproteins in S. cereviUblE1E2UblE1SUMO1, SUMO2, SUMO3, SUMO4"UBA2/SAE1UBC9Smt3Uba2/Aos1NEDD8UBA3/NAE1UBC12, UBE2FRub1Uba3/Ula1LC3A, LC3B, LC3B2, LC3C, GABARAP, GABARAPL1, GATE-16"ATG7ATG3Atg8Atg7Atg12ATG7ATG10Atg2Atg7URM1UBA4-Urm1Uba4UFM1UBA5UFC1FAT10UBA6UBE2Z ^b ISG15UBA7UBCH8 ^b

^aSUMO5 and GABARAPL3 were not included in this table as they are likely pseudogenes. ^bUBE2Z and UBCH8 can also work with ubiquitin.

In contrast, type I Ubl's are activated and conjugated to substrates and include the SUMO, NEDD8, ATG8, ATG12, URM1, UFM1, FAT10, and ISG15 protein families. These Ubl's, and the enzymes required for their conjugation, are the primary subject of this review. The Ubl's, E1, and E2 for each Ubl family are presented in Table 1 for *Homo sapiens* and *Saccharomyces cerevisiae*.

2.1. Gene Number and Organization

While some Ubl families can be identified in all eukaryotes, others appear unique to certain phyla. For instance, the ISG15 and FAT10 families appear to function in the immune system of higher eukaryotes and are absent from lower eukaryotes such as fungi. In addition to possessing unique Ubl's, some eukaryotic organisms have expanded the number of genes in a particular Ubl family. While budding yeast possesses one gene for SUMO and one for ATG8, human includes at least four genes for SUMO (SUMO1, SUMO2, SUMO3, and SUMO4) and seven for ATG8 (LC3A, LC3B, LC3B2, LC3C, GABARAP, GABARAPL1, and GATE-16). Inclusion of SUMO4 as a bona fide Ubl is controversial as this isoform only appears to be processed and conjugated under stress conditions.^{24–26} Two additional Ubl's, SUMO5²⁷ and GABARAPL3,²⁸ could represent pseudogenes as the proteins have yet to be detected.

Genes encoding ubiquitin are often observed as head-to-tail concatemers or as fusions with ribosome proteins, and they must be processed by proteases to expose a C-terminal diglycine motif that is required for conjugation. Although encoded as standalone genes, Ubl family members such as UFM1, ISG15, NEDD8, SUMO, and ATG8 encode preproteins that must be processed by proteases to generate a mature form that includes a C-terminal glycine or diglycine motif that is suitable for activation and conjugation. In contrast, genes for ATG12, FAT10, and URM1 are genetically encoded and translated in their mature form. Although all of these Ubl's can be conjugated to substrates, processing and conjugation is not always a prerequisite for function. For example, free ISG15 can function in humans to stabilize USP18 and prevent autoinflammation via noncovalent interactions in a complex that does not require conjugation.²⁹

2.2. Structure

The mature form of the Ubl generally includes the β -grasp domain described above and a short flexible C-terminal tail that typically ends with at least one glycine residue. Variations exist, and some Ubl's include additional elements that are conserved and sometimes structured within the particular Ubl family (Figure 2). For example, FAT10 and ISG15 include tandem β grasp domains separated by a short and sometimes flexible linker. NMR analysis of FAT10 suggests that there is no significant interaction between the two UBL domains,³⁰ whereas multiple ISG15 crystal structures suggest a defined interface between the two domains.^{31–33} Members of the ATG8 family possess two additional α -helices near their Nterminus³⁴ while ATG12, UFM1, and members of the SUMO protein family include N-terminal extensions that are often missing in available structures, suggesting that they are disordered or at least highly flexible.

2.3. Substrates

Ubiquitin is mainly conjugated to substrates via a peptide bond between the ubiquitin C-terminal glycine and the N_{ζ} of lysine residues although it is also possible to conjugate ubiquitin to



Figure 2. Structure of select Ubl's. (A) Structure of ubiquitin (PDB 1UBQ). (B) Structure of ISG15 (PDB 1Z2M). The first β -grasp domain is colored gray. (C) Structure of ATG8 (GATE-16; PDB 1EO6). The N-terminal extension that contains two α -helices is colored gray. (D) Structure of SUMO (SUMO1; PDB 1ASR). The flexible N-terminal extension is colored gray. Root-mean-square deviations (RMSDs) are calculated between ubiquitin C α and the C α of ISG15, ATG8, or SUMO1 that are colored in yellow.

serine, to threonine, to cysteine, or to the N-terminal amine in proteins (reviewed in Stewart et al.⁷). Most Ubl's are ultimately conjugated to proteins with one notable exception being ATG8, which is conjugated to phosphatidylethanolamine $(PE)^{35}$ and possibly other lipid head groups.³⁶ The number of identified substrates conjugated by a particular Ubl varies considerably with tens of thousands of substrates identified for ubiquitin,^{37'} thousands for SUMO,³⁸ just a few for URM1,³⁹ and two for ATG12.40,41 The capacity to form chains also varies between Ubl's. Chains were first reported for ubiquitin,⁴² and it was shown that all of its lysine residues⁴³ as well as its Nterminal amine group⁴⁴ can be used to build chains that differ in structure and function to diversify its signaling capacity.45 Evidence suggests that some members of the SUMO family form chains in vivo,⁴⁶ while chains have also been detected in vivo for NEDD8 and UFM1.47,48 Some other Ubl's can form chains in vitro; however, convincing data for their existence and function in vivo is still lacking.

3. UBL BINDING MOTIFS

Noncovalent interactions with Ubl's mediate a variety of functions before, during, and after conjugation. Proteins use domains and motifs of varying size and structure to interact with ubiquitin (these are reviewed in Husnjak and Dikic⁴⁹); however, most bind ubiquitin via a hydrophobic patch centered around isoleucine 44 with affinities in the high micromolar range.⁴⁹ NEDD8 is closely related to ubiquitin by sequence and structure, ⁵⁰ and motifs that form noncovalent interactions with

NEDD8 are similar to those that contact ubiquitin.^{51,52} FAT10 was also shown to interact with a protein containing UBA domains, perhaps consistent with its high sequence similarity to ubiquitin.^{53,54} While noncovalent contacts to Ubl members can encompass similar surfaces, they are generally tailored to form specific Ubl/receptor complexes (Figure 3).



Figure 3. Ubl binding motifs. (A) Structure of SUMO/RANBP2 (PDB 1Z5S). (B) Structure of ATG8/ATG19 (PDB 2ZPN). (C) Structure of UFM1/UBA5 (PDB 5HKH). (D) Structure of ATG12/ATG3 (PDB 4NAW). The Ubl's are in cartoon representation colored yellow, while the Ubl binding motifs are in cartoon representation colored gray. Selected residues of the Ubl binding motifs are presented in stick representation. Backbone interactions that mediate β -strand complementation for SUMO/RANBP2 and ATG8/ATG19 are highlighted at the top.

3.1. SUMO Binding Domains

SUMO-interacting motifs (SIMs) are the most prevalent and best characterized motifs that bind SUMO proteins. SIMs are found in the SUMO activating enzyme UBA2, in all known SUMO E3s, in some ubiquitin E3s, as well as in some SUMO substrates and receptors. SIMs are typically composed of four hydrophobic residues that are flanked by acidic residues or residues that can be phosphorylated to generate negative charge, although variants include SIMs with an acidic or phosphorylatable residue at the second or third position. SIMs are presumably disordered in solution but adopt a β -strand that complements the SUMO β -sheet in either parallel or antiparallel orientations, thereby complementing a hydrophobic groove on SUMO formed by its central α -helix and second β strand (Figure 3A). Structures suggest that SIMs can adopt a preferred orientation; however, the binding orientation may not always be an intrinsic characteristic of the SIM sequence as there is at least one case where both orientations were observed in dynamic exchange.⁵⁵ Molecular dynamics simulations suggest that the antiparallel arrangement results in a complex with higher stability compared to the parallel orientation.⁵⁶ SIMs that adopt antiparallel orientations also appear to tolerate more changes within their sequence, ^{56,57} possibly because the antiparallel orientation establishes more backbone-mediated interactions.⁵⁷ SIMs typically interact with SUMO with affinities in the micromolar range.^{58–62} In higher eukaryotes that possess multiple SUMO isoforms, some SIMs appear to have evolved specificity for certain SUMO isoforms. The structural basis for this preference remains elusive, and the measured differences in affinity between SIMs and different SUMO isoforms rarely exceed 1 order of magnitude.^{60,61,63}

As mentioned earlier, SUMO-SIM interactions can be modulated by post-translational modifications such as phosphorylation at positions within or immediately adjacent to the hydrophobic portion of the SIM.⁶⁴ In most cases, phosphorylation increases the strength of SUMO-SIM interactions by at least an order of magnitude.^{61,62,65} The structural bases for phosphorylation-mediated stabilization of these interactions came from three studies, highlighting contacts between the phosphorylated SIM residues and adjacent SUMO residues, albeit at differing positions.^{61,62,65} Comparing binding modes for phosphoSIMs in DAXX and PML suggests some flexibility in recognition of acidic or phosphorylated residues.⁶⁵ In addition, differences between SUMO isoforms can result in different contacts to the acidic/phosphorylated residues in the SIM,^{60–62,66} suggesting that a particular SIM might gain or lose specificity for a particular SUMO isoform based on its phosphorylated state. In addition to phosphorylation, SUMO-SIM interactions may be modulated by acetylation of certain SUMO lysine residues.⁶⁷ Interestingly, SUMO lysine acetylation could counter the effects of SIM phosphorylation as the lysine residues in question constitute those that mediate contacts to the phosphorylated residues in SIMs.⁶⁷ Finally, some proteins possess multiple SIMs that can bind multiple SUMO molecules and/or SUMO chains, presumably stabilizing interactions by increasing avidity. With that said, a concept of SIM dominance has emerged based on the observation that certain SIMs within a cluster appear essential for binding SUMO chains whereas others appear dispensable.^{68–71}

In addition to SIMs, two other types of SUMO-binding domains have been identified. The ZZ zinc finger domain of HERC2 interacts with SUMO in a zinc-dependent manner.⁷² This domain, present in at least 20 human proteins, has a 20-fold preference for SUMO1 over SUMO2.⁷² Analysis of the interaction between SUMO1 and the ZZ domain of CBP/p300 by NMR and through mutagenesis reveals that the ZZ domain binds a different surface of SUMO1 than the one employed to engage SIMs.⁷³ Finally, a MYM-type zinc finger present in at least four human proteins has been shown to interact with SUMO1 in a zinc-independent manner, although in this case MYM interactions because mutants that destabilize SUMO–SIM interactions also destabilize MYM interactions.⁷⁴

3.2. LC3 Interacting Regions (LIRs)

LIRs, also termed LC3 recognition sequence (LRS) or ATG8interacting motif (AIM), mediate interactions between multiple proteins within the ATG8 family (reviewed in Birgisdottir et al.⁷⁵). The LIR motif includes a core $\Theta xx\Gamma$ consensus sequence, where Θ is an aromatic residue (typically Trp, Tyr, or Phe) and Γ is an hydrophobic residue (typically Leu, Ile, or Val). An extended consensus called xLIR⁷⁶ accounts for the observation that the core LIR is often preceded or intervened by acidic residues or residues that can be phosphorylated. Numerous structures have been reported that delineate the requisite ATG8–LIR interactions, although it is worth noting that some were obtained through use of a linear fusion strategy where the LIR sequence is fused to the N-terminus of ATG8 resulting in structures that show the LIR from one molecule interacting with ATG8 from the neighboring ATG8 molecule in the crystal lattice.^{77–80}

LIR-containing proteins bind a region of ATG8 in a manner that shares some similarity to mechanisms employed in SIM-SUMO interactions as the LIR sequence adopts a β -strand conformation that complements ATG8 β -sheet in a parallel orientation (Figure 3B) with the aromatic and hydrophobic residues of the LIR motif accommodated in two hydrophobic pockets termed the HP1 and HP2 sites (sometimes called the W and L sites). While the HP2 site has a structural equivalent in SUMO, the HP1 site is unique to the ATG8 protein and its formation is partially dependent on residues and surfaces composed by the N-terminal helices that are unique to ATG8 proteins. A structural and kinetic study of the interaction between ATG13 and three LC3 isoforms suggests a sequential binding model.⁷⁸ In this model, binding of a hydrophobic residue to the preformed HP2 site tethers the LIR peptide to ATG8 prior to rearrangement of the HP1 site that includes movement of ATG8 Lys49 and Phe52 to allow binding of the aromatic residue.

Acidic residues intervening or preceding the LIR core motif interact with arginine residues on the ATG8 surface and contribute to the specific binding to certain isoforms.⁷⁵ Serine/ threonine residues are sometimes observed in or adjacent to the LIR core sequence, and their phosphorylation can increase^{77,81,82} or decrease^{83,84} the strength of the LIR-ATG8 interaction. FUNDC1 constitutes an example where phosphorylation of the LIR motif leads to a decreased interaction with ATG8. Indeed, FUNDC1 acts as a receptor during hypoxiainduced mitophagy that is constitutively phosphorylated on a serine residue close to the LIR motif and the tyrosine residue of the LIR.^{83,84} Dephosphorylation of these residues upon hypoxia leads to increased association of FUNDC1 with ATG8.^{83,84} The NMR structure of a nonphosphorylated FUNDC1/ATG8 complex suggests that tyrosine phosphorylation decreases ATG8 binding through an electrostatic repulsion, notably with an aspartate residue.⁸⁵ This structure further reveals an atypical binding where the HP1 site is simultaneously occupied by the LIR tyrosine residue and an adjacent valine residue.⁸⁵

Natural variations of the LIR motif exist, and extension of the LIR by a helix is observed in FYCO1. In this case, the LIR motif is succeeded by a short helix that positions a glutamate residue to interact with an arginine residue located on the α -helix of ATG8.^{86,87} The capacity of ATG8 isoforms to accommodate extended LIR motifs has been proposed as another potential mechanism to explain isoform selectivity.^{86,87} In support of this model, the extended LIR binds LC3A with a submicromolar affinity whereas binding of canonical LIRs typically occurs in the micromolar range. The presence of a noncanonical LIR has been hypothesized in the Ubl ATG12 where the aromatic and hydrophobic residues of the LIR are provided by residues that are close in space but not in sequence.⁸⁸ The structural details of this interaction remain unknown.

Recently, a small motif in UBA5 capable of interacting with both ATG8 homologues and UFM1 was discovered⁸⁹ and termed LIR/UFIM (UFM1-interacting motif). Interaction between this motif and UFM1 is structurally reminiscent of the interaction between SUMO and an antiparallel SIM (Figure 3C).⁸⁹ Notably, a hydrophobic residue occupies a cavity equivalent to HP2 while a tryptophan residue folds over a small hydrophobic region at the start of the central α -helix of UFM1. Although this structure provides a compelling example of cross-reactivity where one sequence can bind more than one type of UBL, the biological consequences of this dual interaction awaits further investigation. Finally, the structure of an ATG3/ATG12–ATG5/ATG16 complex reveals that 13 residues of ATG3 can interact with the second β -strand and the α -helix of ATG12.⁹⁰ This sequence forms a short β -strand that runs parallel to the β -strand of ATG12 before continuing as an amphipathic α -helix that provides additional acidic and hydrophobic contacts with ATG12 that contributes to interactions in the midnanomolar range (Figure 3D).⁹⁰

4. E1 ACTIVATING ENZYMES

As the name implies, E1 activating enzymes are required to activate Ub/Ubl's for subsequent steps along the conjugation cascade. E1s have historically been divided between canonical and noncanonical E1s (reviewed in Schulman and Harper⁹¹). Canonical E1s perform three distinct chemical reactions (Figure 4). In the first reaction, E1s bind ATP, magnesium



Figure 4. Canonical E1 chemical reactions. (1) The E1 binds a Ubl and ATP and catalyzes adenylation of the Ubl. (2) The E1 catalytic cysteine attacks the Ubl~AMP resulting in formation of an E1~Ubl thioester. (3) The E1 adenylates a second Ubl. (4) The Ubl is transferred to an E2 through a transthioesterification reaction.

and the Ubl's to catalyze formation of a high-energy acyl adenylate intermediate with subsequent release of pyrophosphate. In the second reaction, an E1 catalytic cysteine attacks the Ubl~adenylate to catalyze formation of a high-energy thioester bond between the E1 and Ubl (E1~Ubl) and release of the AMP product. Finally, the E1~Ubl catalyzes transthioesterification to an E2 to form a high energy thioesterlinked E2~Ubl product. The first structural models for E1 mediated adenylation were gleaned from a MoeB-MoaD complex in 2001,¹⁰ a noncanonical E1/Ubl pair. MoeB and MoaD are evolutionarily related to E1 and ubiquitin, respectively, and participate in the biosynthesis of the molybdenum cofactor in bacteria. While MoeB is capable of adenylating the Ubl MoaD, it lacks a catalytic cysteine that is present in canonical E1s. In 2003, the first structure of a canonical E1 was determined, that of the NEDD8 E1 alone⁹² and in complex with NEDD8.93 Since then, additional structural work has provided snapshots for many of the intermediates during E1 activation. Importantly, information obtained for E1s using different systems and different

Chemical Reviews

organisms can be extrapolated to other E1s due to their high sequence, structural, and functional similarities. As mentioned before, despite these similarities, E1s are often divided into canonical and noncanonical E1 families. Canonical E1s activate the SUMO protein family, NEDD8, ubiquitin, FAT10, and ISG15 and include two pseudosymmetric adenylation domains encoded by one or two genes. In contrast, noncanonical E1s form homodimers similar to that observed for MoeB. These include E1s for the ATG8 and ATG12 protein families, UFM1 and URM1.

4.1. Canonical E1s

Structural information for canonical E1s mainly derives from studies on E1s in the NEDD8, SUMO, and ubiquitin pathways. There is, to date, no structural information available for activation of ISG15 by E1_{UBA7} (also known as E1_{UBE1L}) or FAT10 by E1_{UBA6} (also known as E1_{UBE1L2}). Canonical E1 enzymes possess a common architecture (Figure 5A) composed of two pseudosymmetric adenylation domains: the inactive adenylation domain (IAD) and the active adenylation domain (AAD). Although some differences exist, each canonical E1 includes an insertion within the IAD that is called the first catalytic cysteine half-domain (FCCH) in the ubiquitin E1 and the NAE1 catalytic cysteine (CC) domain in the NEDD8 E1. The SUMO E1 also includes an insertion at this position, but it was not formally named because of its small size and apparent disorder in available crystal structures. In contrast to the variance observed among insertions in the IAD, each canonical E1 includes a conserved CYS domain inserted within the AAD that contains the E1 catalytic cysteine that varies in size through addition of unique structural elements. Most canonical E1s include a ubiquitin fold domain (UFD) at the C-terminal end of the AAD that assists in selecting cognate E2 ubiquitin conjugating enzymes (UBCs).94-97

Structurally, canonical E1s resemble canyons (Figure 5B). The IAD and AAD form the base of the canyon, the UFD domain forms one wall while the FCCH/insertion and CYS domains form the opposing wall.⁹³ This structural organization is apparent in NEDD8, SUMO, and ubiquitin E1s although differences in the fold of the FCCH and size of the CYS domains exist as mentioned earlier. In all cases, the CYS domain is connected at its N-terminal end to the AAD through a crossover loop that passes over the Ubl C-terminal tail, with the catalytic cysteine located within a helix that immediately follows the crossover loop. The SUMO E1 possesses an α -helix termed the CYS cap that covers its catalytic cysteine prior to thioester bond formation.98 The CYS cap contains acidic residues that could raise the catalytic cysteine pK_a thereby reducing its reactivity.98 The CYS cap becomes disordered when the CYS domain rotates to form the thioesterification active site. The IAD and AAD interact via an extended composite interface to form a single ATP binding site. The UFD, which serves to select cognate E2s, is connected to the AAD through a flexible hinge. In the SUMO and NEDD8 systems, this domain may undergo a transition from a partially disordered state to an ordered state upon E2 binding, and it must rotate to bring the E1 and E2 cysteine residues into proximity for thioester transfer.^{99,100} Also in the SUMO and NEDD8 E1s, two residues in the UFD hinge and two residues in the crossover loop coordinate a structural zinc ion. Interestingly, the UFD domain of NEDD8 E1 is absent in certain yeast phyla (see below).



Figure 5. Domain organization of canonical E1s. (A) Primary structure of canonical E1s for NEDD8, SUMO, and ubiquitin. (B) Structure of human NEDD8~ $E1_{NAE1/UBA3}/E2_{UBC12}/ATP$ (PDB 2NVU). Adenylation domains are shown in a Gaussian surface representation, while other domains are in cartoon representation. The sulfur atom of the active site cysteine is in sphere representation colored yellow. Positions for ATP, the crossover loop, and the active site cysteine are highlighted by arrows.

4.1.1. Adenylation Reaction. Structures of MoeB–MoaD complexes derived from *Escherichia coli* provided the first structural insights to the E1 adenylation reaction (Figure 6A).¹⁰ Although MoeB lacks the ability to transfer its Ubl to E2s, we introduce it here because these structures illustrated the basic mechanism of adenylation, features of which are common to all E1 enzymes. MoeB forms a homodimer of AADs to form two active sites that can accommodate two molecules of MoaD and ATP. The C-terminal diglycine motif of MoaD is held in close proximity to the ATP-binding pocket to position the MoaD



Figure 6. Adenylation domains of E1 and E1-like proteins. (A) Structure of *E. coli* MoaD/MoeB/ATP (PDB 1JWA). (B) Structure of human $E1_{SAE1/UBA2}/SUMO/ATP$ (PDB 1Y8R). In both cases, Ubl and adenylation domains are depicted in cartoon and Gaussian surface representations. The ATP and last two residues of the Ubl's are in stick representation. (C) Close-up view of interactions between ATP, the SUMO C-terminus, and the E1 adenylation pocket.

carboxylate terminal group between the AAD and the α -phosphate of ATP. A magnesium ion, held in place by an aspartate residue, is believed to decrease electrostatic repulsion

between the phosphates and the C-terminal carboxylate of MoaD.¹⁰ In NEDD8, SUMO, and ubiquitin E1, the ATP and the C-terminal tail of the Ub/Ubl are positioned next to each other in the AAD adenylation pocket in a manner reminiscent of MoaD and ATP (Figure 6B,C).^{93,96,101} Despite being crystallized with ATP and magnesium and poised for adenylation, most E1/Ubl structures reveal the presence of ATP-magnesium and Ubl rather than the acyl adenylate intermediate.^{93,97,101} This observation is consistent with prior studies showing that pyrophosphate release is the rate limiting step in adenylation¹⁰² and that the back reaction occurs readily.¹⁰³ While most E1s do not undergo adenylation in the crystal, a Ub-adenylate intermediate was observed in a structure of a ubiquitin E1 where it adopts a conformation similar to the one of ubiquitin plus ATP.¹⁰⁴ Although generated artificially, the structure of a SUMO E1 in complex with a SUMO molecule linked to a nonhydrolyzable adenylate mimic revealed a similar configuration.⁹⁸

4.1.2. Thioester Formation. The first E1 structures provided many details pertaining to the adenylation reaction, but the mechanism for pyrophosphate release and subsequent thioester bond formation remained elusive for many years as the E1 active site cysteine and Ubl~adenylate were separated by as much as \sim 35 Å. In 2010, a structure of the SUMO E1 illuminated conformational changes that were required to release pyrophosphate and to bring the active site cysteine into proximity of the Ub/Ubl~adenylate (Figure 7). This was achieved by linking SUMO and ubiquitin to a nonhydrolyzable adenylate mimic that harbored an electrophile at a position where the thioester bond is formed. Incubation of this mimic with an active E1 resulted in a stable thioether bond and tetrahedral intermediate mimic between the E1 active site cysteine and the Ub/Ubl adenylate mimic.¹⁰⁵ A structure of the resulting SUMO E1 complex and comparison to other SUMO E1 structures revealed several conformational changes that occur during thioester bond formation.⁹⁸ One change encompasses expulsion of the N-terminal helix of the IAD, a change that might explain how pyrophosphate is released because it forms part of the adenylation active site and contributes a critical arginine that contacts the ATP γ phosphate (Figure 6). Another major conformational change includes rotation of the CYS domain which brings the catalytic cysteine into proximity of the Ubl~adenylate and forms a new composite active site that is capable of thioester bond formation. It remains unclear how or if the E1 cysteine is specifically activated for catalysis by neighboring amino acid side chains, but the structure suggests that an α -helix in the AAD, positioned just below the adenylate, could stabilize the transition state during thioester bond formation via hydrogen bonding or perhaps the helix dipole. Following thioester bond formation, the CYS domain is thought to return to its original position through changes that restore the original conformation of the adenylation active site to permit binding of a second Ubl and ATP.

4.1.3. Ubl Transfer to E2s. Thioester transfer between the E1~Ubl and E2 requires juxtaposition of the E1 and E2 active sites. In the case of the NEDD8 E1, formation of an E1~NEDD8 thioester triggers a change in the conformation of the UFD that exposes an E2 binding surface.⁹⁷ The interaction between NEDD8 E1 and E2_{UBC12} or E2_{UBE2F} is bipartite. One interaction that appears unique to NEDD8 E1/E2 complexes involves the stabilization of the N-terminal extensions of E2_{UBC12} or E2_{UBC12} that adopt extended



Figure 7. Thioester formation in the SUMO E1. (A) Structure of human $E1_{SAE1/UBA2}/SUMO-AMSN$ (PDB 3KYC). (B) Structure of human $E1_{SAE1/UBA2}/SUMO-AVSN$ (PDB 3KYD). For simplicity, only the CYS domain and SUMO-AMSN or SUMO-AVSN is presented. The sulfur atom of the active site cysteine is in sphere representation colored in yellow. A color gradient is applied on the CYS domain to highlight the different orientations observed in the two structures. As an additional landmark, Lys336, a lysine residue in the CYS domain, is presented in sphere representation. AMSN and AVSN are non-hydrolyzable AMP mimics with AVSN covalently linked to the E1 catalytic cysteine.

conformations within a groove on NEDD8 E1 (Figure 8A).^{106,107} The other interaction involves contacts between the UFD domain of NEDD8's E1 and the core domains of $E2_{UBC12}$ or $E2_{UBE2F}$ in a manner that structurally resembles other ubiquitin–UBD interactions⁹⁴ with the β -sheet of the UFD contacting the N-terminal helix and $\beta 1-\beta 2$ loop of E2_{UBC12} or E2_{UBE2F}.^{94,107} The structure of E2_{UBC12} in complex with NEDD8 E1 doubly loaded with NEDD8 (one NEDD8 in the adenylation site, another linked to the E1 via a thioester bond) confirmed bipartite recognition of E2_{UBC12} and revealed a conformation where the E1 and E2 active sites faced each other although they remained ~ 20 Å apart (Figure 8A).⁹ Although this distance is too far to promote transthioesterification, it was hypothesized that the distance could be reduced through a hinge movement of the loop linking the AAD and UFD.^{97,108} The structure of a ubiquitin E1-E2 complex where both active sites are cross-linked through a disulfide bond provided insight into additional conformational changes required for transthioesterification.⁹⁶ Indeed, further movement in the hinge between the UFD and AAD allows the E2 active site to approach the E1 active site cysteine (Figure 8B). In this arrangement, E2_{UBC4} interacts with the UFD and CYS domain while also contacting the crossover loop and the molecule of ubiquitin that is located in the adenylation site.



Figure 8. E1–E2 interaction for canonical E1 proteins. (A) Structure of human E1_{NAE1/UBA3}/E2_{UBC12}/NEDD8/ATP (PDB 2NVU) showing the bipartite binding of the E2_{UBC12} to E1. In this structure, the catalytic cysteine residues of E1 and E2 are separated by ~20 Å. (B) Structure of *S. pombe* E1_{UBA1}/E2_{UBC4}/ubiquitin/ATP (PDB 4II2) showing juxtaposition of E1 and E2 active sites. Adenylation domains are shown in Gaussian surface representation. Other domains are in cartoon representation. The sulfur atoms of the active site cysteine residues of E1 and E2 are in sphere representation colored yellow.

While there is currently no structural information available for a good mimic of the transthioesterification reaction, three studies elaborated models for a tetrameric assembly consisting of a doubly loaded ubiquitin E1 with E2 in conformations suitable for thioester transfer.^{96,104,109} In each case, the thioester-linked ubiquitin is bordered by the E2, the FCCH domain, and ubiquitin in the adenylation site, although the models differ somewhat. In two cases the thioester-linked ubiquitin contacts the FCCH domain,^{104,109} while in another case the thioester-linked ubiquitin contacts the E2.⁹⁶ In the later case, ubiquitin was positioned in a similar but not identical conformation to the closed E2~ubiquitin conformation (see below). The validity of these models, and their generality, remains to be tested.

4.1.4. Directionality of the Reaction. Each chemical step catalyzed by E1 is reversible, so how does the E1 ensure directionality? First and foremost, ATP is highly abundant, so the reaction could progress by simple mass action. With that said, several mechanisms discussed earlier appear to confer directionality to the overall reaction. Following adenylation, the E1 undergoes large conformational changes that reshape the adenylation active site into one that promotes thioester bond formation. In doing so, residues that contact ATP and are required for adenylation are displaced from the active site to allow the CYS domain to rotate and project the active site cysteine toward the Ubl~adenylate. These conformational changes would facilitate pyrophosphate release, thus inhibiting the back reaction.⁹⁸ After thioester bond formation, the CYS domain returns to its original position, allowing reformation of the adenylation active site, a process that is most certainly enhanced by binding another molecule of ATP and Ubl. The presence of ATP and a second Ubl would likely inhibit CYS domain conformational changes, thus preventing the thioesterlinked Ubl from undergoing the reverse reaction. This model is consistent with the observation that doubly loaded ubiquitin E1 is most efficient at promoting thioester transfer to E2.110 Toggling of affinities upon E1:E2 transthioesterification was also proposed as a driving force in directionality.⁹⁷ In this case, the Ubl moiety of a Ubl~E1 complex contributes additional surfaces to promote interactions with E2 while Ubl transfer to the E2 reduces the number of contacts between the charged E2 and the E1, thereby facilitating rapid dissociation of the charged E2 and inhibiting attack of the charged E2 by the E1. This is followed in the NEDD8 system by an additional change in the conformation of the UFD that buries E2 binding surfaces to inhibit rebinding between the charged E2 and discharged E1.9

4.1.5. Ubl Specificity. E1s serve as selectivity filters to ensure faithful transfer of cognate Ubl's to cognate E2s because they generally exhibit specificity for one or a few Ubl's. Indeed, reports show that once a noncognate Ubl is loaded on E1, it can be transferred to an E2 without major impediments.^{111,112} While many interactions contribute to specificity between cognate E1/Ubl pairings, the identity of the third residue preceding the diglycine motif (position 72 in NEDD8 or ubiquitin) constitutes a major determinant for faithful Ubl activation by its cognate E1.50,92,93,113 This residue is an arginine in ubiquitin, an alanine in NEDD8, and a glutamine or glutamate in SUMO. Early biochemical work revealed that A72R substitution in NEDD8 increases NEDD8's affinity for ubiquitin E1 by approximately 2 orders of magnitude⁵⁰ while the R72A substitution of ubiquitin permits its adenylation by NEDD8 E1.⁹³ Furthermore, R72L substitution of ubiquitin can be activated and passed to the E2 by NEDD8 E1 while this activity could not be detected for wild type ubiquitin.¹¹¹ Structures of cognate E1-Ubl complexes revealed how different residues at this position are recognized by E1. Ubiquitin Arg72 fits into a negatively charged cavity in its E1 forming contacts to multiple residues via hydrogen bonds and hydrophobic interactions.^{f08} In the case of SUMO, a glutamate residue is stabilized by contacts to an arginine and a tyrosine,¹⁰¹ while for NEDD8, Ala72 benefits from hydrophobic interactions with adjacent leucine and tyrosine residues.93 Interestingly, a single R190Q mutation in NEDD8 E1 allows the charging of ubiquitin.93 Arg190 does not contact NEDD8

Ala72, but it appears that this residue is part of a gating mechanism that prevents NEDD8 E1 from binding ubiquitin.¹¹³ Additional contacts to the Ubl could include contacts to residues from the FCCH or related insertion domains. Similarly, interactions between SUMO and a SIM-like sequence in the C-terminus of its E198 could assist in SUMO specificity although this region of the E1 appears dispensable in vivo and its contribution to Ubl specificity has not been assessed. Specificity was also addressed in the case of $E1_{UBA6}$ that activates two different Ubl's, ubiquitin or FAT10,^{114–116} and transfers them to $E2_{UBE2Z}$.^{115,117} Ubiquitin and FAT10 were reported to undergo adenylation and thioester formation with similar kinetics although FAT10 displays a much tighter binding to E1_{UBA6} than ubiquitin.¹¹⁸ A Cys-Tyr-Cys-Ile sequence immediately preceding the diglycine motif appears important for the selective activation of FAT10 by $E1_{UBA6}$ and for its transfer to $E2_{UBE22}$.¹¹⁹ Intriguingly, a FAT10 variant with this motif replaced by the Leu-Arg-Leu-Arg motif of ubiquitin displays an increased rate of transfer to $E2_{UBE2Z}$ when compared with the wild type protein.¹¹⁹

4.1.6. E2 Specificity. In addition to E1 specificity for cognate Ubl's, E1s must also select cognate E2s from a large pool of structurally similar proteins. In this regard, E1s appear to select for cognate E2s while also discriminating against noncognate E2s. The UFD appears to be the main specificity determinant for E1:E2 interactions. The structures of five UFD:E2 pairs have been solved,^{96,97,107,120,121} and comparison of these structures suggests that conserved insertions and deletions are used to prevent noncognate pairing.96 Consistent with the idea the UFD domain constitutes the main E2 binding platform for ubiquitin E1, its deletion leads to a sharp decrease in the rate of E2 transthioesterification.95 For the interaction between NEDD8 E1 and its E2s, specificity also derives from a tight interaction between the N-termini of $E2_{UBE2F}$ or $E2_{UBC12}$ and the residues of a groove in NEDD8 $E1^{106,107}$ and deletion of the NEDD8 E1 UFD domain was shown to have a limited effect on the rate of E2 transthioesterification,⁹⁵ consistent with the absence of this domain in certain yeast strains. This deletion however increases the rate of noncognate E2 charging in agreement with a role of the UFD domain as a selectivity filter.95 A study aimed at understanding the bases of E2_{UBC12} specificity for NEDD8 further revealed that certain E2_{UBC12} residues oppose ubiquitin charging and, through alanine mutagenesis, the vestigial preference of E2_{UBC12} for ubiquitin can be partially restored.¹¹² Finally, structural comparison of E1_{UBA2}/E2_{UBC9} pairs for human and yeast suggests a general conservation of the interaction interface between these species.¹²¹

4.1.7. Regulation. While regulation of E1s has not been a major focus of investigation, several lines of evidence suggest that E1s could be regulated. For instance, the CYS domain of the SUMO E1 was shown to be targeted by SUMO modification to decrease its interaction with $E2_{UBC9}$, possibly though steric hindrance.¹²² SUMO modification on the E1 C-terminal domain has also been shown to affect the subcellular localization of the E1.¹²³ Perhaps most intriguing are the observations that, under oxidative conditions, the SUMO E1 can form a disulfide bond with its E2 UBC9,¹²⁴ thereby inactivating both enzymes. A similar model was proposed for the ubiquitin E1.¹²⁵ There are also examples of proteins regulating E1 activity through direct interaction. LMO2 binds the UFD domain of E1_{UBA6} and acts as a competitive inhibitor of E1_{UBA6}, thereby decreasing FAT10 loading on E2_{USE1}

global protein FATylation.¹²⁶ Another study reported that glycyl-tRNA synthase (GlyRS) uses its anticodon binding domain to target NEDD8 E1 where it captures NEDD8~ $E2_{UBC12}$ through an interaction that depends on the catalytic domain of GlyRS but not on its tRNA synthase activity.¹²⁷ GlyRS, but not other tested tRNA synthases, appears to stabilize NEDD8~ $E2_{UBC12}$ and was posited as a global regulator of protein neddylation.

4.2. Noncanonical E1s

Noncanonical E1s form obligate homodimers and do not possess a CYS domain. Instead, their catalytic cysteine is positioned after a crossover loop that is close to the adenylation pocket. Work on $E1_{ATG7}$ and $E1_{UBA5}$ provided considerable structural insight into mechanisms utilized by noncanonical E1s. Comparatively, much less is known concerning $E1_{UBA4}$, which plays a dual role in protein conjugation and sulfur metabolism.¹²⁸

4.2.1. UBA4: URM1 E1. $E1_{UBA4}$ is a homodimeric protein that includes an adenylation domain followed by a rhodanese-like domain (RLD) and functions as a sulfurtransferase. It is not yet clear how $E1_{UBA4}$ activates URM1 for downstream protein conjugation or if this process even involves the formation of a thioester intermediate, ^{39,129,130} as is the case for other E1s. Protein modification by URM1 is dependent on a catalytic cysteine located in the RLD, supporting a mechanism where the adenylated URM1 is attacked by a persulfide group on the RLD's catalytic cysteine to yield a disulfide-linked $E1_{UBA4}$ –S–S–URM1 intermediate.¹³⁰ Attack of this species by a cysteine in the adenylate, whereas attack by a substrate lysine residue would rather result in a URM1–protein conjugate.¹³⁰

4.2.2. ATG7: Dual E1 for ATG8 and ATG12. E1_{ATG7} activates two different Ubl's, ATG12 and ATG8, and respectively pairs them with $E2_{ATG10}$ and $E2_{ATG3}$. $E1_{ATG7}$ includes two domains connected by a short flexible hinge.¹ The N-terminal domain, termed ATG7-NTD, is unique to the E1_{ATG7} family of proteins, whereas its C-terminal domain, termed ATG7-CTD, constitutes the AAD common to all E1s. The structure of full-length E1_{ATG7} resembles a gliding bird where the CTD dimer forms the body while the NTD constitutes the wings.¹³² This bipartite organization is important for E1_{ATG7}'s ability to pair two different Ubl's with their cognate E2s. Structures of ATG7-CTD-ATG8 complexes show similarity with E1 and E1-like proteins with respect to the positions of the ATP¹³¹ and ATG8 C-terminal tail.^{131,133} Interestingly, deletion of the last 13 C-terminal residues of E1_{ATG7} affects ATG8 but not ATG12 conjugation¹³⁴ and a peptide encompassing those residues was shown to interact with ATG8 by NMR.¹³¹ However, this interaction is incompatible with the E1_{ATG7}/ATG8 conformation captured in the crystal structure where the visible part of the C-terminus of E1_{ATG7} forms a helical pad that interacts with a different region of ATG8. These results suggested a sequential recruitment model where ATG8 first interacts with the E1_{ATG7} C-terminus prior to engaging the adenylation domain.¹³¹ Contrary to canonical E1s, thioester bond formation does not require extensive remodeling of E1_{ATG7} as structures of E1_{ATG7} bound to ATG8 show the catalytic cysteine already poised on a loop just 7 Å from ATG8's Cterminal carboxylate. The conformation required for thioester bond formation has not yet been elucidated.

 $E1_{ATG7}$ interacts with two E2s: $E2_{ATG10}$ and $E2_{ATG3}$. An insertion of about 80 residues in the core domain of $E2_{ATG3}$, termed the flexible region, was initially shown to be important for contacting $E1_{ATG7}$.¹³⁵ The binding site was later refined to 13 residues that form a helical structure that interacts with ATG7-NTD.¹³⁶ Mutation of certain $E1_{ATG7}$ residues that interact with $E2_{ATG3}$'s flexible region only affect $E2_{ATG3}$ but not $E2_{ATG10}$ interaction, suggesting differential binding requirements for each E2.¹³⁶ To better understand the bases for dual E2 specificity of $E1_{ATG7}$, structures were determined with the $E1_{ATG7}$ active site cysteine cross-linked to the active site cysteine of $E2_{ATG10}$ and $E2_{ATG3}$ (Figure 9).¹³² These structures



Figure 9. E1–E2 interaction for ATG7. (A) Structure of *S. cerevisiae* E1_{ATG7}–E2_{ATG3} (PDB 4GSL). (B) Structure of *S. cerevisiae* E1_{ATG7}–E2_{ATG10} (PDB 4GSK). In both cases, E2 binding occurs between the NTD and CTD domains of E1_{ATG7}. Dashed lines represent regions missing elements in the crystal structure. Sulfur atoms of the catalytic cysteine residues of E1_{ATG7} and E2_{ATG3} are in sphere representation colored yellow. The catalytic cysteine of E2_{ATG10} is not visible in the structure. The position of ATG8 or ATG12 on the adenylation domain is indicated by a yellow oval.

showed that both E2s bind E1_{ATG7} between the NTD and CTD domain in a region called "under-wing" and that variations in the relative orientation of ATG7-NTD and ATG7-CTD enable unique accommodation of each E2. Furthermore, these structures showed that E2_{ATG10} and E2_{ATG3} use different structural elements to contact ATG7-NTD. While E2_{ATG3} uses an α -helix, E2_{ATG10} uses a β -hairpin. Importantly, these structures confirmed the *trans* mechanism as previously envisioned, ^{131,133,136} as the E2 bound by one subunit of the E1_{ATG7} dimer is cross-linked to the other subunit. These findings were also corroborated by a contemporaneous study

that showed the same *trans* mechanism using structures of $E2_{ATG3}/ATG7$ -NTD and $E2_{ATG10}/ATG7$ -NTD.¹³⁷ These $E1_{ATG7}/E2$ structures provided considerable insight into E2 selection, although the structural basis for selective pairing of ATG8 with $E2_{ATG3}$ and ATG12 with $E2_{ATG10}$ remains elusive.

4.2.3. UBA5: UFM1 E1. $E1_{UBA5}$ represents a minimalistic E1 composed of a single domain¹³⁸ that is necessary and sufficient for UFM1 activation and thioesterification.¹³⁹ The structure of an $E1_{UBA5}/UFM1$ complex shows a homodimeric arrangement similar to that observed for MoeB.¹⁴⁰ Comparison of structures of $E1_{UBA5}$ and $E1_{UBA5}/UFM1$ reveals a rearrangement of the crossover loop upon UFM1 binding that repositions the catalytic cysteine closer to the C-terminal end of UFM1.^{89,139} This would facilitate the formation of an $E1\sim$ UFM1 thioester, a process that is also stimulated by binding of $E2_{UFC1}$.¹⁴¹ Contrary to canonical E1s, UBA5 does not undergo a second round of adenylation following thioester formation.¹⁴¹ However, thioester transfer is accelerated by $E1_{UBA5}$ binding of ATP and magnesium.¹⁴¹ Similar to $E1_{ATG7}$, thioester transfer of UFM1 from $E1_{UBA5}$ to $E2_{UFC1}$ was shown to occur via a *trans* mechanism.¹⁴⁰

By analogy to canonical E1s, UBA5 was postulated to possess a UFD that would bind E2_{UFC1}. This is based on experiments showing interactions between the C-terminus of $E1_{\text{UBAS}}$ and $E2_{UFC1}^{142}$ and observations that deletion of the C-terminus of $E1_{UBAS}$ abrogates UFM1 loading on $E2_{UFC1}^{139}$ A region of 23 residues with helical propensity in the $E1_{UBAS}$ C-terminus however appears to be sufficient for E2_{UFC1} interaction, suggesting that the E1_{UBA5} C-terminus does not adopt a ubiquitin fold.¹⁴³ The C-terminus of $E1_{UBAS}$ also contains an LIR/UFIM motif that interacts with UFM1. In the context of the homodimeric $E1_{UBAS}$, this motif binds UFM1 in *trans*¹⁴⁰ to facilitate its activation.⁸⁹ Mutation or deletion of this motif does not abolish UFM1 activation, suggesting that this motif does not constitute the only determinant for UFM1 selection.^{89,139} Furthermore, this motif was shown to interact with certain members from the ATG8 family although this interaction was insufficient to trigger their activation.⁸⁹ In addition to UFM1, E1_{UBA5} was also reported to activate SUMO2 in vitro;¹ however, details of this interaction remain unclear.

5. E2 CONJUGATING ENZYMES

E2 conjugating enzymes can be divided into canonical and noncanonical E2s (Figure 10). Canonical E2s include those that carry ubiquitin, SUMO, NEDD8, ISG15, and FAT10 as thioester adducts. They share a common architecture called the UBC fold comprised of approximately 150 residues that typically includes four α -helices and four β -strands with the catalytic cysteine located between β -strand 4 and α -helix 2. In addition to the UBC core, some E2s contain N- and/or Cterminal extensions or large insertions after the catalytic cysteine. As such, canonical E2s have historically been subdivided into four classes according to these criteria.¹⁴⁵ More recent phylogenic analyses have further subclassified canonical E2s into 17 classes.¹⁴⁶ Noncanonical E2s, which comprise those that carry ATG8, ATG12, and UFM1 as thioester adducts, were deemed as too divergent to be included within canonical E2 classifications.^{135,146} While these E2s bear some structural resemblance to canonical E2s with respect to their topology, they include more structural variations including a notable lack of the last two C-terminal helices that are observed in canonical E2s. In addition, noncanonical E2s receive their respective Ubl from noncanonical E1s while



Figure 10. Canonical and noncanonical E2s. (A) A structure of $E2_{UBC9}$ (PDB 1Z5S) was chosen as a representative example of canonical E2s. (B) Structure of $E2_{ATG10}$ (PDB 3VX7), a noncanonical E2. (C) Structure of $E2_{UFC1}$ (PDB 3EVX), a second noncanonical E2 that differs from both $E2_{UBC9}$ and $E2_{ATG10}$. Proteins are in cartoon representation colored cyan except for divergent structural elements that are colored white. The sulfur atoms of the catalytic cysteine residues are in sphere representation to highlight the shift in position of this residue in $E2_{ATG10}$ as compared to $E2_{UBC9}$ and $E2_{UFC1}$.

canonical E2s receive their Ubl from canonical E1s. Canonical E1/E2 interactions are mutually exclusive with E2/E3 interactions,¹⁴⁷ implying that E2s must disengage from E3s to be recharged by E1s. This property appears conserved for noncanonical E2s as illustrated by analysis of E2_{ATG3} activation.^{148,149} In this section we will review mechanistic and structural findings on E2s that mediate Ubl conjugation. Complementary information on the functions and structures of E2s involved in ubiquitin conjugation can be found in a recent review.⁷

5.1. Reactions

E1s transfer Ubl's to E2s through a transthioesterification reaction. Following this step, many E2s can transfer their Ubl to a lysine residue through an aminolysis reaction where the primary amine of a deprotonated lysine residue acts as a nucleophile to attack the thioester bond that links the Ubl and E2 (Figure 11). This reaction likely involves formation of a tetrahedral intermediate and ultimately resolves with the formation of an isopeptide (amide) bond between the lysine residue and the Ubl C-terminal glycine. A similar reaction is catalyzed by E2_{ATG3} to conjugate ATG8 to the primary amine of PE.³⁵

Several ubiquitin E2s can transfer their ubiquitin moieties to members of the homologous to E6AP C-terminus (HECT) or RING-between-RING (RBR) families of E3 ligases through a transthioesterification reaction that generates an E3 thioester adduct to ubiquitin.^{7,150} Once loaded with ubiquitin, these E3s can modify the lysine residue of protein substrates through an aminolysis reaction in the absence of the E2 (reviewed in Buetow and Huang⁸). In Ubl conjugation, this appears to be limited to E2_{UBCH8} that transfers its Ubl ISG15 to HERCS¹⁵¹ or HHARI.¹⁵²

5.2. Active Site Organization

Canonical E2s share an active site architecture that includes two loops that are supported by multiple intra- or interloop interactions. The catalytic cysteine is located on one of these loops, and its position within the UBC fold is conserved among canonical E2s. While the position of the catalytic cysteine is conserved, the identity and location of other residues that participate in catalysis are often different. Furthermore, and unlike many other enzymes, E2 active sites appear devoid of residues that could participate in general acid/base catalysis



Figure 11. E2 chemical reactions (A) Scheme illustrating how the Ubl moiety of a E2~Ubl thioester can be transferred to the primary amine group of a lysine residue of a protein substrate (top), to the primary amine group of PE (middle), or to a HECT or RBR E3 for subsequent transfer to the lysine residue of a protein substrate (bottom). Transfer to PE is performed by $E2_{ATG3}$. Ubl transfer to E3s of the HECT or RBR families are limited to $E2_{UBCH8}$, and this only allows the ISGylation of a limited number of protein substrates. (B) Mechanism for the aminolysis reaction. In this case, the primary amines are presented in their deprotonated states.

suggesting that they must rely on alternative mechanisms to activate or deprotonate the incoming nucleophile and/or to increase the reactivity of the thioester bond.

Although many E2s have been characterized at the biochemical and structural level, several characteristics of the E2 active site can be appreciated from studies in the SUMO system that identified E2_{UBC9} residues adjacent to the catalytic cysteine that contribute to a microenvironment that suppresses the pK_a of the incoming lysine nucleophile while optimally positioning the thioester bond and incoming lysine residue for catalysis (Figure 12).^{153–155} One particular study highlighted the contribution of Asn85, Tyr87, and Asp127 to isopeptide bond formation using discharge assays, model substrates, and structural analysis of mutations at each position in complex with the substrate RANGAP1.¹⁵⁵ Importantly, mutation of individual residues to alanine resulted in a decreased rate of discharge with little effect on substrate binding. Asn85 lies within the HPN motif that is highly conserved among E2s,^{156,157} and its side chain is within hydrogen bonding distance to the carbonyl oxygen of the C-terminal glycine in structures of E2 thioester mimics or product complexes.^{154,158–166} As such, this residue appears optimally positioned to stabilize the thioester bond prior to catalysis and was in fact originally proposed to stabilize the oxyanion intermediate.¹⁵⁶ While Asn85 is certainly important for catalysis, later studies suggested that it was also important for stabilizing the loop that contains Asp127.^{155,167} Unlike Asn85 that contacts the thioester, Tyr87 and Asp127 appear to contribute to catalysis by forming an environment that orients and desolvates the incoming lysine nucleophile.¹⁵⁵ Asp127 is often present in other E2s as a serine or aspartate residue, 155,168 and in some cases phosphorylation of the serine residue has been shown to increase catalytic efficiency^{155,168,169} although

downregulation has also been reported.¹⁷⁰ While Tyr87 is less well conserved, the hydrophobic property of amino acids at the analogous structural position appears widely conserved.¹⁵⁵

In cases where equivalents of Asp127 or Tyr87 are missing, structural equivalents appear to be contributed by the substrate itself. For instance, $E2_{UBC12}$ lacks a residue equivalent to Tyr87 in E2_{UBC9}. In a structure of a charged E2_{UBC12}/CUL1 complex, a tyrosine residue in the CUL1 substrate acts as a structural mimetic of Tyr87.¹⁷¹ While the equivalent of Asp127 in E2_{UBC9} exists in E2_{UBC12}, mutation of Asp143 had little effect on NEDD8 conjugation. In this case, the backbone carbonyl of Asp143 appears closer to the incoming lysine and may functionally replace its carboxylic group. $^{1\widetilde{71}}$ Another example was illustrated for E2_{UBC1} an E2 that lacks a structural equivalent to Tyr87.¹⁷² In this case, the authors suggested that ubiquitin Tyr59 contributes to the formation of a hydrophobic microenvironment that assists in activating the attacking lysine residue, in this case Lys48 of ubiquitin. E2_{UBE2S} constitutes a case of substrate-assisted catalysis as Glu34, a glutamate residue in the ubiquitin substrate, is predicted to interact with the target lysine Lys11, thereby functionally mimicking Asp127 in E2_{UBC9}.¹⁷

The location of the active site is not strictly conserved for all E2s. In E2_{ATG3} and E2_{ATG10}, despite being present in topologically equivalent locations, the position of the active site cysteine is shifted by ~12 Å when compared to canonical E2s such as E2_{UBC9}. Despite this difference, the catalytic cysteine of E2_{ATG10} is located adjacent to Tyr56 and Asn114, two residues that could function in manners similar to those reported for Tyr87 and Asp127 in E2_{UBC9}. Consistent with this idea, mutation of these residues to alanine leads to a defect on $k_{\rm cat}$ with little effect on $K_{\rm m}$.¹⁷⁴

Chemical Reviews



Figure 12. E2 active site. (A) Overall view and (B) close-up view of $E2_{UBC9}/SUMO-RANGAP1$ (PDB 1Z5S) illustrating how the

Figure 12. continued

RANGAP1 substrate and SUMO are positioned in the $E2_{UBC9}$ active site. This state represents a product complex after conjugation where SUMO, colored yellow, has been transferred to a lysine of RANGAP1 colored gray. SUMO^D designates a SUMO protein in donor (D) configuration. $E2_{UBC9}$ is in cartoon representation colored cyan. Certain residues of the E2 active site are in stick representation. The consensus sequence for substrate recognition by $E2_{UBC9}$ is indicated on top. (C) Close-up of $E2_{UBC9}/RANGAP1$ (PDB 1KPS) representing RANGAP binding prior to catalysis in the absence of SUMO.

5.3. Target Selection

Most E2s do not exhibit specificity and consequently require an E3 to promote selective interactions with their substrates. In contrast, E2_{UBC9} can directly recognize substrates that contain a SUMO consensus motif comprised by Ψ -Lys-X-Asp/Glu where Ψ is a hydrophobic residue, Lys is the target lysine to which SUMO is attached, and X is any residue.¹⁷⁵ While SUMO can be conjugated to other sites, mass spectrometry analyses of SUMO targets show a clear enrichment of this motif or related motifs at sites of conjugation (see Hendriks and Vertegaal³⁸ for review). The structural basis for recognition of this motif was first illustrated by a structure of RANGAP1/E2_{UBC9} (Figure 12).¹⁵³ In this complex, the hydrophobic residue contacts a somewhat featureless hydrophobic surface formed by residues Pro128-Ala129-Gln130, an observation consistent with accommodation of hydrophobic residues that differ in size. As discussed in section 5.2, the substrate lysine residue is positioned via aliphatic contacts to Tyr87 and hydrogen bonding interactions with Asp127 to place its primary amine next to the catalytic cysteine of $E2_{UBC9}$. The X residue is located above Tyr87, enabling interactions between the Asp/Glu residue that includes aliphatic contacts to Tyr87 as well as hydrogen bonding contacts to Ser89 and Thr91. Two lysine residues (Lys74, Lys76) are also proximal to the Asp/Glu residues. Although other E2s may harbor intrinsic substrate specificities, the SUMO system appears to be the only one where in vitro and in vivo substrate specificities appear well reconciled by available structural and biochemical data. Other examples include the noncanonical E2s $E2_{ATG10}$ and $E2_{ATG3}$. Indeed, no E3 has been found for $E2_{ATG10}$ for the modification of the ATG5 substrate on a specific lysine of its helical domain.^{176,177} NMR and cross-linking analyses of the ATG5/ $\mathrm{E2}_{\mathrm{ATG10}}$ interaction is consistent with the idea that direct recognition of ATG5 by E2_{ATG10}, notably through ATG5 Cterminal ubiquitin-like domain, is sufficient for mediating its conjugation to ATG12.¹⁷⁴ E2_{ATG3} was also reported to be sufficient for recognizing its PE substrate in vitro, although this process is stimulated by E3_{ATG12-ATG5}.¹⁷⁸

Formation of Ubl chains can be considered as a special case of target selection as the target is the Ubl itself. In the ubiquitin system, multiple strategies are employed for chain formation. For example, the heterodimeric $E2_{MMS2}/E2_{UBC13}$ uses the inactive component $E2_{MMS2}$ to bind ubiquitin and position Lys63 in the active site of $E2_{UBC13}^{179}$ while the monomeric $E2_{UBE2S}$ exploits a noncovalent interaction with ubiquitin to promote synthesis of Lys11 chains.¹⁷³ In the case of SUMO, certain SUMO isoforms contain one or more SUMO consensus motifs within their N-terminal extensions that can be used to form chains.^{46,180} It was also proposed that assembly of two or more $E2_{UBC9}$ enzymes can favor formation of SUMO chains.¹⁸¹ In this case, one $E2_{UBC9}$ would scaffold its backside bound

Chemical Reviews

SUMO such that the SUMO consensus site could reach the active site of a second SUMO~E2_{UBC9} complex. The association of at least two E2_{UBC9} molecules is needed as the SUMO consensus site of a backside bound SUMO cannot reach the active site of the same $E2_{UBC9}$. The concept that E2/E2 interactions might promote chain formation was also proposed based on packing of E2s in certain crystal forms.^{182–184} In yet another study, SUMO modification of E2_{UBC9} at Lys153 was shown to decrease E2 activity; however, SUMO-modified E2_{UBC9} increased chain formation by unmodified $E2_{UBC9}$ suggesting that association of two or more E2s, directly or indirectly, can result in increased chain formation.¹⁸⁵ In the NEDD8 system, one study suggested that NEDD8 chains can be formed on the active site cysteine of the E2_{UBC12} and then transferred en bloc to the substrate.¹⁸⁶ In this case, NEDD8 chains appear to be facilitated by association of two or more E2s. Formation of mixed chains has been observed for ubiquitin and some Ubl's with ubiquitination of SUMO chains by SUMO-targeted ubiquitin ligases being possibly the best understood process.^{187,188} Evidence also exists for formation of mixed chains containing NEDD8 and ubiquitin under stress conditions, perhaps by misprocessing of NEDD8 by the ubiquitin conjugation machinery.^{189,190} Finally, the ISGylation of Lys29 of ubiquitin was recently reported.¹⁹¹ While multiple mechanisms have been proposed for formation of chains, the underlying structural bases for these activities remain unclear.

5.4. Dynamics

The dynamics of the E2~Ubl thioester adduct are best understood in the ubiquitin system where comparisons between multiple E2~ubiquitin structures or their mimics have revealed that ubiquitin can adopt a variety of orientations relative to the E2.^{158,166,179,192} NMR studies have further suggested that different E2s can populate different conformational states.¹⁹³ One conformation with particular significance was termed the "closed" conformation. In this case, ubiquitin packs against the crossover helix of the E2, thereby positioning the ubiquitin C-terminus in a shallow groove that leads to the E2 active site cysteine where it is stabilized by multiple interactions. The first structure of an E2 thioester-linked to ubiquitin, determined by NMR, revealed ubiquitin in a state similar to the closed conformation.¹⁵⁸ A subsequent structure of E3_{RANBP2}/E2_{UBC9}/SUMO-RANGAP1 showed SUMO in a closed conformation (Figure 13A) in work that proposed that the closed conformation was required for activation of the thioester bond.¹⁵⁴ Closed conformations have since emerged as a hallmark for E2 \sim Ubl activation in the ubiquitin, SUMO, and NEDD8 pathways for aminolysis^{160,161,171,194,195} because the closed conformation positions the thioester bond in the E2 active site in an orientation that enhances reactivity. As described in section 6, E3 ligases can enhance reactivity by stabilizing the closed conformation (see below).

5.5. Backside Binding by Ubl's

Studies in the ubiquitin and SUMO pathways have revealed that proteins, including ubiquitin and SUMO, can interact with E2s on a surface termed the E2 "backside" that is opposite to the active site (Figure 13B). Backside binding between E2s and ubiquitin or SUMO contributes to chain building activities^{181,196–198} or to regulation of E2 activities via allostery.¹⁶² Although backside E2/Ubl complexes utilize similar surfaces in ubiquitin or SUMO pathways, the strength of these interactions can vary. Ubiquitin and certain ubiquitin E2s interact with



Figure 13. E2~Ubl complexes. (A) Structure of $E2_{UBC9}$ in complex with SUMO in a closed conformation (PDB 1ZSS). (B) Structure of $E2_{UBC9}$ in complex with SUMO that binds $E2_{UBC9}$ on the E2 backside (PDB 2PE6). Proteins are in cartoon representation with catalytic cysteine residues in sphere representation. SUMO^D and SUMO^B represent SUMO proteins in donor (D) and backside (B) configurations, respectively.

affinities in the high micromolar range,^{162,196} while interactions between SUMO and E2_{UBC9} occur in the nanomolar range.^{164,181,199,200} Other proteins can also bind to E2s via the backside surface. For instance, a membrane-anchored ubiquitin-fold protein (MUB) that is targeted to membranes following prenylation of its C-terminus was shown to bind the backside of certain ubiquitin E2s; however, binding affinity in this case was in the nanomolar range due to the presence of a longer loop that extends the binding interface.²⁰¹ In addition to the canonical ubiquitin interaction on the backside of an E2, a second "noncanonical" binding site for ubiquitin has been found on E2_{RAD6}.²⁰² There is limited data on the prevalence of this alternate ubiquitin interaction surface among other E2s.

In addition to Ubl's, several proteins can bind the backside of E2 to modulate E2 activities. The SUMO E3 ligase RANBP2 contacts $E2_{UBC9}$ through its backside.¹⁵⁴ In the ubiquitin system, the protein CUE1 contacts the K48 chain-building $E2_{UBC7}$ on its backside though an α -helical U7BR domain.²⁰³ CUE1 also possesses a Cue domain that displays preference for binding the proximal penultimate ubiquitin moiety of a chain,²⁰⁴ presumably to increase its chain extending activities. Collectively, these studies reveal that the E2 backside can act as a versatile platform to modulate E2 activities or localization.

5.6. E2 Modifications

Covalent modification of an E2 by its own Ubl has been suggested as a mechanism to regulate E2 activities, specificities, or levels of the respective E2. For example, $E2_{UBE2Z}$ is FATylated,¹¹⁷ a modification that targets the E2 for proteasomal degradation.²⁰⁵ In the case of metazoan $E2_{UBC9}$, SUMO modification on the first α -helix has been shown to alter

substrate specificity with little effect on enzyme activity.²⁰⁶ $E2_{ATG3}$ can be modified with ATG12 on a specific lysine, and this modification requires the $E2_{ATG3}$ catalytic cysteine and was shown to occur in *cis*.⁴¹ The resulting ATG12– $E2_{ATG3}$ plays a role in mitochondrial homeostasis.⁴¹

6. E3 LIGASES

E3 protein ligases are generally considered as factors that increase the rate of ubiquitin or Ubl conjugation to substrates. This is often accomplished by recruiting the E2~Ubl thioester and substrate into a complex. While colocalization is critical, the E3 can also enhance the rate of isopeptide bond formation by templating the charged E2~Ubl thioester into a "primed" conformation that positions or aligns the ubiquitin or Ubl thioester bond for nucleophilic attack. While the ubiquitin system includes more than 600 E3s and dozens of E2s that combine in unique configurations to dictate substrate specificity,²⁰⁷ only a few E3s have been reported thus far for SUMO, NEDD8, and ISG15 Ubl's. Furthermore, only one E3 has been identified to date for ATG8 and UFM1 and no E3s have been identified to date for FAT10, URM1, and ATG12. In the ubiquitin system, really interesting new gene (RING), HECT, and RBR proteins constitute the three main E3 families (recently reviewed in Buetow and Huang⁸). Those E3s that do not belong to one of these families are generally referred to as atypical. In this section, we will review RING E3s that facilitate Ubl conjugation, emphasizing common and contrasting properties with those of the ubiquitin E3 RING family. We will also describe mechanisms underlying atypical Ubl E3 ligase activity. While important, we will not describe HECT and RBR ligases or E3 ligases for ISG15 conjugation^{151,152,208,209} as most insights gained for these E3s relied on characterizations with ubiquitin and not ISG15. We refer the reader to Buetow and Huang for their detailed review of ubiquitin E3s.⁸

6.1. RING Ligases

6.1.1. RING Domain and its Variants. The RING domain contains cysteine and histidine residues that coordinate two zinc ions with a cross-braced topology (reviewed in Deshaies and Joazeiro²¹⁰). In a landmark study, Lorick et al.²¹¹ noted that several RING domain-containing proteins that interact with E2 also displayed ubiquitin E3 ligase activity. U-boxes and SP-RING domains were later shown to be structurally and functionally related to the RING domain. Indeed, the U-box domain shares a similar topology as the RING domain except that the canonical RING cysteine and histidine residues that coordinate the two zinc ions are replaced by side chains that interact to stabilize the cross-braced architecture.²¹² The SP-RING domain is hybrid between RING and U-box domains in that it possesses one zinc coordination site with the other replaced by side chains that interact to stabilize the cross-braced architecture.²¹³ Proteins with U-box domains are known to catalyze ubiquitin E3 ligase activity, whereas proteins with SP-RING domains catalyze SUMO E3 ligase activity. Collectively, the RING domain and its structural variants increase the rate of ubiquitin, SUMO, NEDD8, and ISG15 conjugation by binding the charged E2~Ubl thioester adduct and activating it for chemistry. $^{211,214-216}$

6.1.2. E2 Binding. The first atomic insights into E2 recognition by RING E3s came from the structure of $E3_{CBL}/E2_{UBCH7}$ in the absence of ubiquitin.²¹⁷ This structure showed how a surface on the RING domain composed of two E3 loops and an α -helix between the two respective zinc coordination

sites contacts two loops and the N-terminal helix of the E2. While this structure showed how the RING binds E2, direct involvement of the RING domain in E2-mediated conjugation remained a puzzle because the E2 active site was ~15 Å from the RING domain.²¹⁷ Similar interactions were later observed for several E3/E2 pairs (Figure 14), including those for the



Figure 14. Representative RING E3/E2 interaction. (A) Overall view and (B) close-up view of human $E3_{TRIM25}/E2_{UBCH5A}$ (PDB 5FER). Both proteins are in cartoon representation. A white-to-green gradient running from the N- to C-terminus has been applied to $E3_{TRIM25}$. Two zinc ions are depicted as gray spheres. Residues contributing to the $E3_{TRIM25}/E2_{UBCH5A}$ interaction are in stick representation.

NEDD8 and SUMO pathways.^{171,200} In addition to canonical E3/E2 interactions, some RING-containing proteins use additional domains to increase affinity for a particular E2 or to alter E2 properties. For example, E3_{RNE125} includes a zinc finger that folds back on the RING domain to stabilize the RING and to extend interaction surfaces with the E2,²¹⁸ while other proteins include extensions that contact the backside of the E2, frequently through the formation of an α -helix.^{203,219–222} In the case of E3_{RAD18}/E2_{RAD6} interaction, the $E3_{RAD18}$ C-terminal α -helix binds the backside of $E2_{RAD6}$ to prevent ubiquitin from binding the same surface, thus decreasing the ability of this E3/E2 pair to form ubiquitin chains.²²⁰ To illustrate yet another variation, the RING of E3_{FANCL} uses a short N-terminal extension and additional hydrophilic contacts to achieve specific interaction with E2_{UBE2T}.²²³ Additional domains can also be used for allosteric regulation. For example, binding of an E3_{GP78} C-terminal α helix on the backside of E2_{UBE2G2} was reported to stimulate E2 activity through an allosteric mechanism.²¹⁹ To provide an example of ligand induced regulation, binding of one unit of a poly(ADP-ribose) chain by the WWE domain of E3_{RNF146} triggers a conformational change in this RING-containing protein that increases E2 binding and stimulates E3 activity.⁴ In the SUMO system, the SP-RING domain is frequently followed by a SIM with evidence pointing toward a role for this SIM in contacting SUMO conjugated substrates or a second molecule of SUMO that is bound to the backside of the $E2_{UBC9}$ ~SUMO thioester adduct.^{200,225} In the NEDD8 system, DCN1 is often viewed as a co-E3 for RBX1 because it further stimulates E3_{RBX1}-mediated Cullin neddylation.²²⁶ In this case, DCN1 recognizes the Cullin substrates and the acetylated Nterminal extension of $E2_{UBC12}$ to facilitate $E2_{UBC12}$ ~NEDD8 recruitment.^{171,227,228}

6.1.3. E2~Ubl Binding and Activation. While structures of multiple E2/E3 pairs provided clues as to how RING E3s might increase the rate of E2-mediated catalysis, these complexes represented product complexes because they lacked ubiquitin or the E2~ubiquitin thioester (or mimics). Indeed,

structural studies of RING E3/E2~ubiquitin complexes revealed that catalytic activation was achieved because the RING domain stabilizes a closed E2~ubiquitin conformation that aligns the thioester bond for nucleophilic attack and ubiquitin discharge.^{160–163,165,194,195,229,230} This mechanism also appears prevalent in the NEDD8 and SUMO pathways where RING E3s stabilize the closed conformation of E2_{UBC9}~SUMO and E2_{UBC12}~NEDD8 (Figure 15).^{171,200}



Figure 15. E3 stabilization of a closed E2~Ubl conformation. (A) Structure of human NEDD8~E2_{UBC12}/E3_{RBX1} (PDB 4P5O). The position of the catalytic cysteine (a serine residue in the structure) is indicated by a yellow sphere. (B) Structure of yeast SUMO~E2_{UBC9}/E3_{SIZ1} (PDB 5JNE). (C) Structure of human SUMO~E2_{UBC9}/E3_{RANBP2} (PDB 1Z5S). (D) Structure of human SUMO~E2_{UBC9}/E3_{ZNF451} (PDB 5D2M). Zinc atoms are in gray sphere representations. SUMO^D and SUMO^B represent SUMO proteins in donor (D) and backside (B) configurations, respectively. NEDD8^D designates a NEDD8 protein in donor (D) configuration.

Formation of a closed conformation remains dependent on canonical E2/E3 interactions but now also depends on contacts between the RING or ancillary motifs and the ubiquitin or the Ubl moiety. In the case of dimeric RINGs, one RING binds the E2 while the other RING provides vital contacts to ubiquitin.^{161,163,165,195,229,230} For monomeric RINGs, additional structural elements contribute interactions that are functionally analogous to those provided by dimeric RINGs. In the case of $E3_{CBL-B}$, ubiquitin is contacted by an N-terminal helix that contains a phosphotyrosine residue,¹⁶⁰ interactions that increase E2 catalytic efficiency by more than 2 orders of magnitude.¹⁶⁰ The monomeric RING of $E3_{ARK2C}$ binds a second molecule of ubiquitin on its backside to form a complex that stabilizes E2~ubiquitin in a closed conformation through ubiquitin–ubiquitin interactions.²³¹

Early studies in the SUMO pathway suggested the importance of interactions between an acidic region of $E3_{SIZ1}$ and a basic patch on SUMO that was derived by docking $E2_{UBC9}$ ~SUMO in a closed conformation to the $E3_{SIZ1}$ SP-RING domain,²¹³ but the true nature of contacts was not revealed until a structure of $E3_{SIZ1}/E2_{UBC9}$ ~SUMO/PCNA was

determined.²⁰⁰ This structure showed that SUMO does interact with $E3_{SIZ1}$; however, contacts were more extensive than anticipated as the $E3_{SIZ1}$ contains an additional domain termed the SP-CTD that includes an embedded SIM-like motif that stabilizes donor SUMO in the closed conformation.

Stabilization of the closed E2~Ubl conformation is also observed in the NEDD8 pathway. In this system, the RINGcontaining $E3_{RBX1}$ interacts with its obligate partner CUL1 via an N-terminal β -strand extension of E3_{RBX1} that intercalates in a β -sheet of CUL1.²³² A short linker between the N-terminal extension of $E3_{RBX1}$ and its RING domain enables a hinge motion of the RING domain relative to CUL1. While E2_{UBC12} binds the RING domain of E3_{RBX1}, the NEDD8 moiety of E2_{UBC12}~NEDD8 binds E3_{RBX1} through the linker region. This freezes the conformation of the linker and orients the E3_{RBX1} active site relative to the lysine substrate, in this case a lysine in CUL1 itself. E3_{RBX1} binding to NEDD8 thus fulfills multiple roles, it maintains NEDD8 in the closed conformation and it orients the entire complex for substrate recognition.¹⁷¹ E3_{RBX1} also binds $E2_{UBCH5}$ and $E2_{CDC34}$ to promote substrate ubiquitination. An NMR study showed minimal interaction between isolated $E3_{RBX1}$ and $E2_{CDC34}$ while interactions with $E2_{CDC34}$ ~ubiquitin revealed a dissociation constant in the midmicromolar range²³³ underscoring the importance of contacts to ubiquitin in a system that is likely optimized for rapid release of the E2 product upon ubiquitin discharge.²³³

An unusual case of RING-mediated ubiquitin binding is seen in the anaphase promoting complex/cyclosome (APC/C) complex, a multisubunit E3. In this case, the RING-containing protein APC2 interacts with $E2_{UBE2C}$ through canonical E2/E3 interactions to prime the substrate by ubiquitination; however, efficient substrate polyubiquitination is dependent on replacement of $E2_{UBE2C}$ by $E2_{UBE2S}$. In this latter step, $E2_{UBE2S}$ does not contact the canonical RING surface of APC2, but instead uses its C-terminal tail to contact other APC/C surfaces. This allows APC2 to interact with ubiquitin in the context of a ubiquitinated substrate to catalyze $E2_{UBE2S}$ -mediated chain elongation.²³⁴

One noted hallmark of ubiquitin RING activation is a "linchpin" arginine within the RING that contacts both E2 and ubiquitin to lock ubiquitin in the closed conformation (reviewed in Buetow and Huang⁸).¹⁹⁴ While this residue is clearly important in a variety of E3s, it may not be a universal requirement as at least one case reported little effect on activity upon substitution to alanine.²²⁹ Interestingly, this residue is notably absent in $E3_{SIZ1}^{200}$ and, in $E3_{RBX1}$, alanine substitution of the topologically equivalent residue (Asn98) does not affect conjugation while an N98R substitution impairs neddylation.¹⁷ Instead, another arginine, Arg46, functions in an analogous manner by interacting with $\mathrm{E2}_{\mathrm{UBC12}}$ and NEDD8, although it is present on a distinct surface of E3_{RBX1}. While there are many ways in which RINGs or related domains interact with their E2~Ubl thioester substrates, a common mechanism emerges, namely that RING and RING-like domains bind the E2~Ubl thioester, activating it for conjugation by stabilizing the closed conformation.

6.1.4. Substrate Interaction. Structural studies on E3/ E2~Ubl/substrate complexes are scarce, but the ones that exist provide vital clues as to how E3/E2~Ubl complexes target their substrates (Figure 16). One example pertains to E2_{UBC12}mediated NEDD8 modification of residue Lys720 of CUL1, a subunit of the E3 ligase complex. The structure of a co-E3_{DCN1}/ E3_{RBX1}/E2_{UBC12}~NEDD8/CUL1 complex¹⁷¹ revealed few

Chemical Reviews



Figure 16. E3/E2~Ubl/substrate complexes. (A) Structure of human co-E3_{DCN1}/E3_{RBX1}/E2_{UBC12}~NEDD8/CUL1 (PDB 4P5O). The target residue 720 (an arginine in the structure) is in stick representation. NEDD8^D designates a NEDD8 protein in donor (D) configuration. (B) Structure of yeast SUMO–E3_{SIZ1}/SUMO~ E2_{UBC9}–PCNA (PDB 5JNE). The target residue 164 (a cysteine in the structure) and its linkage to the E2 catalytic cysteine via ethanedithiol are presented in stick representation. SUMO^D and SUMO^B represent SUMO proteins in donor (D) and backside (B) configurations, respectively. (C) Structure of human SUMO–RANGAP1/E2_{UBC9}/E3_{RANBP2} (PDB 1ZSS). The isopeptide linkage between the target residue 524 and the C-terminal glycine of SUMO is in stick representation.

contacts between the NEDD8-bound E2_{UBC12} and its CUL1 substrate, suggesting substrate recognition relied on multiple binding interactions that collectively lead to correct positioning of the activated E2 relative to the target lysine. While the co-E3 DCN1 binds to and bridges the acetylated N-terminal extension of E2_{UBC12} and CUL1, the UBC domain of E2_{UBC12} is recognized by E3_{RBX1} through a classical RING E3/E2 interaction. NEDD8 also plays an important role in the active complex as the closed conformation of NEDD8 bends the E3_{RBX1} linker between the N-terminal extension of E3_{RBX1} and its RING domain to bring the E2_{UBC12} active site into proximity

of CUL1 Lys720. Structural studies of ubiquitin modification of histone H2A at Lys119 provided another example where the E2 and substrate barely interact.²³⁵ In this case, the structure of an E3_{RING1B-BMI1}/E2_{UBCH5C}/nucleosome complex revealed few contacts between the E2_{UBCH5C} and the region surrounding Lys119. Instead, the E3 binds to a region centered on the acidic patch of the nucleosome and this interaction, combined with E2_{UBCH5C}/DNA interactions, results in positioning of Lys119 close to the E2_{UBCH5C} active site. Any role for ubiquitin in this complex remains unclear as it was absent from this structure. The last example draws from E3_{SIZ1} ligase catalyzed SUMO modification of yeast PCNA, a substrate that includes two SUMO modification sites: a primary site at Lys164 and a secondary site at Lys127.236 While Lys127 modification can be enhanced by E3_{SIZ1}, it lies within a SUMO consensus motif and can be modified by the SUMO $E2_{UBC9}$ in the absence of $E3_{SIZ1}$. In contrast, Lys164 modification appears strictly dependent on the E3_{SIZ1}.²³⁷ Subsequent structural and biochemical studies revealed that the SP-RING domain was important for modification of Lys127 and Lys164, but Lys164 modification relied on interactions between PCNA and the N-terminal PINIT domain of $E3_{SIZ1}^{213}$ The structure of an SUMO– $E3_{SIZ1}/SUMO \sim E2_{UBC9}$ –PCNA complex provided a rationale for Lys164 modification in that E3_{SIZ1}/PCNA interactions position the substrate within the activated E3/E2~Ubl complex to force-feed Lys164 into the $E2_{UBC9}$ active site.²⁰⁰

6.2. Atypical E3 Ligases

6.2.1. SIM-Based SUMO E3 Ligases. $E3_{RANBP2}$ is an atypical SUMO E3 ligase²³⁸ whose catalytic domain(s) reside in a 30 kDa fragment called the IR1-M-IR2 repeat.²³⁹ The structure of an E3_{RANBP2}/E2_{UBC9}/SUMO-RANGAP1 complex that corresponds to a product complex after conjugation revealed that the E3_{RANBP2} IR1-M domain uses a combination of loops and helices to contact the E2_{UBC9} backside while a SIM binds the donor SUMO to position it in a closed conformation analogous to that described above for RING-mediated E2~Ubl activation (Figure 15C).¹⁵⁴ This early study suggested that E3 ligase activity was due to coordination of the Ubl~E2 thioester through stabilization of the Ubl~E2 closed conformation. $E3_{ZNF451}$ is another recently identified SUMO E3 whose catalytic module includes two SIMs that are separated by an intervening Pro-Leu-Arg-Pro sequence.^{164,240} The structure of an E3_{ZNF451}/E2_{UBC9}/RANGAP1-SUMO complex revealed that E3_{ZNF451} uses its N-terminal SIM to maintain the donor SUMO in a closed conformation¹⁶⁴ while its C-terminal SIM engages a second SUMO molecule that is bound on the backside of $E2_{UBC9}$ (Figure 15D). This places the Pro-Leu-Arg-Pro sequence under the E2 to enable direct contacts between the arginine residue and $E2_{UBC9}$. $E3_{ZNF451}$ is a target of extensive SUMO modification,³⁸ and SUMO modification of an E3_{ZNF451} fragment at a site close to the catalytic module can increase SUMO E3 activity, presumably because SUMO modification provides a second SUMO in cis for backside interactions with E2~SUMO. This mechanism was also proposed in the context of $E3_{RNF38}/E2_{UBCH5B}$ interactions where ubiquitination of the E3 or a substrate results in an increased catalytic activity.¹⁶² In this case, however, the authors proposed that ubiquitin binding in cis on the backside of the E2 can also trigger allosteric activation of the E2.¹⁶² In summary, E3_{RANBP2} and E3_{ZNF451} use SIMs to maintain a donor SUMO in the closed conformation while employing unique strategies to recognize the E2. The idea that SIMs are necessary, although not sufficient, for SUMO E3 ligase activity appears to be a unifying theme among SUMO E3 ligases, including proteins with a SP-RING domain. While SIMs can play a role in SUMO E3 ligases, their ability to interact with SUMO can result in spurious in vitro artifacts and misidentification of SIM-containing proteins as bona fide SUMO E3 ligases as discussed in Parker and Ulrich.²⁴¹

6.2.2. UFL1. E3_{UFL1} is the only protein identified thus far for which UFM1 E3 activity has been reported.^{242,243} E3_{UFL1} increases the rate of UFM1 conjugation to UfBP1²⁴² and ASC1⁴⁸ although it shares no sequence similarity with E3s from other systems and its mode of action remains unclear. It has been suggested that E3_{UFL1} could bridge E2_{UFC1} and its substrate UfBP1 to promote UFM1 conjugation.²⁴² Interestingly, modification of ASC1 is dependent on prior UFMylation of UfBP1 and likely involves formation of an ASC1/UFM1–UfBP1/E3_{UFL1} complex.⁴⁸ This suggests that UFM1–UfBP1 might act as a co-E3, and phenotypic similarities between *UfBP1*, *UFL1*, and *UBA5* knockouts in mice is consistent with this idea.^{244,245}

6.2.3. ATG12–ATG5. The ATG12–ATG5 conjugate functions in at least two ways in vivo. First, it acts as an E3 for E2_{ATG3}-mediated conjugation of ATG8 to PE.^{178,246} Second, through its association with ATG16 and ATG8–PE, it forms a two-dimensional mesh that organizes associated membranes.⁸⁸ ATG12–ATG5 is formed by conjugation of the Ubl ATG12 to a specific lysine residue of ATG5.¹⁷⁶ Conjugation appears irreversible, as proteases capable of cleaving ATG12–ATG5 have not been identified to date. Structural analyses of the ATG12–ATG5 complex reveals an extended interface between ATG12 and ATG5 that extends beyond the isopeptide linkage, presumably to maintain ATG12 in a fixed orientation relative to ATG5 (Figure 17).^{90,247,248} This interface appears important for the E3 activity of the ATG12–ATG5 conjugate as E3



Figure 17. E3/E2 complex in the ATG8 system. Structure of $E3_{ATG12-ATG5}/E2_{ATG3}$ (PDB 4NAW). Proteins are in cartoon representation with the isopeptide linkage between ATG12 and ATG5 in stick representation.

activity is compromised by mutations that disrupt the ATG12/ ATG5 interface or a conserved composite surface that includes elements from both ATG5 and ATG12.²⁴⁷ Also, strategies that bring ATG12 and ATG5 together by means other than native isopeptide linkage failed to reconstitute E3 activity.²⁴⁷

ATG8 conjugation to PE can be recapitulated in vitro using E1_{ATG7}, E2_{ATG3}, mature ATG8, ATP, and liposomes containing a high proportion of PE, suggesting that E2_{ATG3}~ATG8 can recognize its PE substrate in an E3-independent manner.²⁴⁹ While this reaction is inefficient in the context of liposomes with low PE content,²⁴⁹ the ATG12–ATG5 conjugate, but not ATG12 and/or ATG5 alone, increases E2_{ATG3}-mediated ATG8 conjugation.¹⁷⁸ Since ATG12 binds E2_{ATG3} with nanomolar affinity without substantive contributions by ATG5,90,247 it appears that the ATG12-ATG5 conjugate might be required to activate the ATG8~ $E2_{ATG3}$ thioester. Consistent with this model, Sakoh-Nakatogawa et al.²⁵⁰ observed differences in available E2_{ATG3} structures around its catalytic cysteine that correlated with active and inactive conformations. Precisely, they showed that E3_{ATG12-ATG5}, or mutation of a phenylalanine residue that physically supports the catalytic loop in some structures, induces a conformational change in $\mathrm{E2}_{\mathrm{ATG3}}$ that results in its activation. How the E3_{ATG12-ATG5} conjugate binds E2_{ATG3} to modulate its conformation remains unknown. It also remains unclear if the $E3_{ATG12-ATG5}$ conjugate maintains a stable scaffold^{90,247} or if it undergoes conformational $\mathsf{changes}^{248}$ upon ATG8~E2_{ATG3} binding. There is no evidence to date to suggest that E3_{ATG12-ATG5} promotes formation of a closed E2~Ubl conformation via contacts to ATG8. With that said, ATG12 possesses a noncanonical LIR motif formed by two residues that are distant in sequence but close in space⁵ that when mutated reduce ATG8 conjugation.⁸⁸ Thus, it is tempting to speculate that the ATG12 LIR may contact ATG8 moiety within ATG8~E2_{ATG3} to activate the ATG8~E2_{ATG3} thioester.

Finally, evidence suggests that E3_{ATG12-ATG5} and E2_{ATG3} activities can be spatially regulated through a series of protein—protein and protein—lipid interactions. The ATG5 moiety of a ATG12—ATG5 conjugate associates with the N-terminus of ATG16,¹⁷⁷ a protein that dimerizes through a coiled coil region,²⁵¹ interactions that contribute to membrane targeting of E3_{ATG12-ATG5}.^{177,252} Proteins from the PIWI family also contribute to targeting ATG8 and ATG12—ATG5/ATG16 to PI3P-containing membranes where ATG8 conjugation occurs.^{253,254} Sakoh-Nakatogawa et al.²⁵⁵ further showed that E2_{ATG3} is recruited to preautophagosomal structures in a LIR-dependent manner, consistent with the idea that ATG3/ATG8—PE interactions serve as a positive feedback loop to increase ATG8—PE production and membrane expansion. Membrane curvature may also act as a positive feedback loop as it is induced by ATG8—PE and sensed by an amphipathic helix in the N-terminus of E2_{ATG3}.^{256,257} Taken together, these studies depict E3_{ATG12-ATG5} as an atypical E3 under multiple layers of regulation.

7. TRAPPING INTERMEDIATES IN CONJUGATION CASCADES

The activation and conjugation cascades for ubiquitin or Ubl's often employ interactions that are sometimes weak, often transient, and nearly always chemically labile. As such, structural studies often rely on stabilization of intermediates through chemical or artificial means. In this section we will review some of the strategies used to trap and structurally



Figure 18. Chemical structures representing methods for trapping the E1 thioesterification step. Non-native linkages are colored red.

characterize various intermediates during Ubl activation and conjugation. As many of these methods are general and can be applied to ubiquitin and Ubl proteins, we will describe examples from various systems.

7.1. E1 Activation Intermediates

Most structures of canonical E1s in complex with ubiquitin or Ubl proteins revealed similar E1 conformations, with the Cterminal Ubl tail locked in place under the α -phosphate of the bound ATP-magnesium complex, and the catalytic cysteine far from the adenylation active site.^{92,93,96,97,101,104,106,108} To trap complexes after adenylation or during thioester bond formation, Lu et al.¹⁰⁵ synthesized tripeptides containing 5'-(sulfonylaminodeoxy)adenosine (AMSN) or a 5'-(vinylsulfonylaminodeoxy)adenosine (AVSN) that could be ligated to the C-terminus of SUMO or ubiquitin using native chemical ligation. While both result in nonhydrolyzable adenylate Ubl intermediates, the AVSN moiety possesses an eletrophilic center that reacts with the cognate E1 catalytic cysteine to generate a stable thioether bond (Figure 18). This strategy was used to determine the structure of an E1~AVSN-SUMO complex with the catalytic cysteine covalently attached to the AVSN within the adenylation pocket.⁹⁸ An analogous chemical strategy was recently described to trap E1 activation intermediates where a nonhydrolyzable AMP analogue was ligated to the C-terminus of a Ubl through native chemical ligation resulting in the formation of a cysteine residue that can be converted to dehydroalanine using 2,5-dibromohexanediamide.²⁵⁸ In this case, the dehydroalanine residue contains the electrophilic center that reacts with the E1 catalytic cysteine. This strategy was employed to trap E1_{UBA1}~5'-(dehydroalanine-aminodeoxy)adenosine–ubiquitin and E1_{ATG7}~5'-(dehy-droalanine-aminodeoxy)adenosine–LC3 complexes.²⁵⁸

7.2. Transthiolation Intermediates for E1/E2

Huang et al.⁹⁷ obtained a structure of a NEDD8~E1/E2 complex by mutating the E2 catalytic cysteine to alanine to

prevent the transfer of NEDD8 from the E1 to the E2. This structure provided some of the first important details on how the E2 is recognized by E1, but it was unable to provide a mechanism for transthiolation as the two active sites remained separated by an ~20 Å. To trap conformations that would allow the E1 and E2 active sites to come into close proximity, two sulfhydryl-to-sulfhydryl cross-linking strategies were used (Figure 19). In the first case, Kaiser et al.¹³² used



Figure 19. Chemical structures representing methods for trapping E1/ E2 complexes. Non-native linkages are colored red.

bismaleimidoethane, a bifunctional cross-linker, to bring together the E1 and E2 active sites. Although this strategy successfully trapped both $E1_{ATG7}$ – $E2_{ATG3}$ and $E1_{ATG7}$ – $E2_{ATG10}$ complexes, the E2 loops containing the catalytic cysteine were partially disordered suggesting conformational flexibility,¹³² perhaps because the maleimide-based cross-linker is longer and more complex when compared to the predicted tetrahedral intermediate. An alternative strategy utilized the *S. pombe*



Figure 20. E2~Ubl mimics. Non-native linkages or amino acid residues are colored red.

ubiquitin E1 and E2_{UBC4} and activation of the E2 cysteine by 2,2'-dipyridyldisulfide to catalyze formation of a disulfide bond between the E1 and E2 active site cysteine residues.⁹⁶ While a disulfide also fails to mimic a bona fide tetrahedral intermediate, the disulfide bond reduces the distance between E1 and E2 when compared to the maleimide-based strategy, and the structure of the resulting complex revealed new surfaces between the E1 and E2 that are important for transthiolation activity. Furthermore, the E1–E2 disulfide complex was shown to occur in vivo when cells are placed under oxidizing conditions.^{124,125} Additional strategies will be required to capture better mimics of Ubl~E1/E2 transthiolation intermediates.

7.3. E2~Ubl Mimics

 $E2\sim$ Ubl is an intermediate in the conjugation cascade and an essential component of intact E3 ligase complexes; however, the thioester bond between the E2 active site cysteine and Ubl

C-terminus is labile and short-lived, especially in the presence of E3s. A pioneering NMR study first observed the $E2_{UBC1}$ ~ubiquitin thioester in situ by having unlabeled E1, ATP, and magnesium chloride present in the NMR tube to reiteratively generate the E2~ubiquitin species.¹⁵⁸ This method was subsequently employed to study $E2_{UBC13}$ ~ubiquitin, $E2_{MMS2}/E2_{UBC13}$ ~ubiquitin, and $E2_{UBCHSC}$ ~ubiquitin complexes by NMR,^{196,259} where it was estimated that thioester bond formation proceeded to ~90% completion.^{158,196} This method has clear advantages in that it results in native thioester bonds, but its use is limited to select NMR studies. Therefore, other strategies were required to overcome the labile nature of the E2~Ubl thioester bond to generate stable E2~Ub mimics (Figure 20). Mimics using the oxyester, disulfide, or isopeptide strategies were detailed in a recent methods article.²⁶⁰

7.3.1. Oxyester. Early studies using $E2_{RAD6}$ and $E2_{UBC1}$ showed that mutation of the E2 catalytic cysteine to serine

allowed for replacement of the thioester bond by a more stable oxyester bond.^{261,262} This strategy enabled the first NMR study of an E2~ubiquitin complex,²⁶³ and it has been used since to structurally investigate many different E2~ubiquitin complexes, sometimes in the presence of E3s.^{166,173,179,184,193–195,264–269} This strategy was also used to study E2_{UBC12}~NEDD8¹⁷¹ and closed conformations of E2~ubiquitin and E2~NEDD8.^{171,173,193-195,266,269} The main advantage of the oxyester mimic is that this single atom substitution results in a bond that is structurally similar to the native thioester. However, the single atom substitution can also change chemical reactivity with some surprising results. Scott et al.¹⁷¹ reported that an E2~NEDD8 oxyester conjugate has a higher propensity to undergo hydrolysis versus aminolysis when compared to a native thioester-linked conjugate. Although the oxyester mimic is more stable, it still undergoes hydrolysis or aminolysis^{179,2} and half-lives of 5-20 h have been reported for complexes between ubiquitin and E2_{UBE2G1} and E2_{UBE2R1}, respectively.²⁶⁹ Furthermore, E3s can decrease the half-life of the oxyester conjugate. For example, an E2_{UBCH5C}~ubiquitin complex has a half-life of 58 h in the absence of an E3 and a half-life of 10 h in the presence of $\mathrm{E3}_{\mathrm{E4BU}}$.¹⁹⁴ Therefore, additional mutations are often required to trap complexes that contain E3s and E2~Ubl oxyester-based conjugates. In an $E3_{BIRC7}/E2_{UBCH5B}$ ~ubiquitin complex, the oxyester bond is cleaved after 1-3 days in the absence of a stabilizing $E2_{UBCH5B}$ N77A mutation.¹⁹⁵ In the case of $E3_{NEDD4L}/E2_{UBCH5B}$ ~ubiquitin complexes, the HECT E3 catalytic cysteine was mutated to serine or alanine to prevent decomposition of the complex.²⁶⁴ For the $E3_{RBX1}/$ E2_{UBC12}~NEDD8/CUL1/DCN1 complex where E2_{UBC12}~NEDD8 is linked by an oxyester bond, Asn103 was mutated to a serine and the target lysine was mutated to arginine.¹⁷¹ Efforts have also been made to identify experimental conditions that stabilize the oxyester bond. The use of a citrate buffer at pH 5.75 was reported to increase the lifetime of an E2_{UBCH5C}~ubiquitin oxyester in the presence of $E3_{E4BU}$ from a few hours to several days.²⁶⁶

7.3.2. Disulfide. A disulfide bond can be formed between the E2 catalytic cysteine and a ubiquitin variant where the last glycine residue is replaced by a cysteine residue.^{192,269–272} This often requires nonreducing conditions and mutation of other E2 cysteine residues to prevent formation of disulfides at other sites. This strategy was used to isolate E2_{UBC1}~ubiquitin and E2_{UBCH8}~ubiquitin conjugates that were reported to be stable for weeks²⁷⁰ or months,¹⁹² respectively. Adding to the utility of this approach, NMR studies observed few differences between the thioester and disulfide-linked E2_{UBC1}~ubiquitin complexes, suggesting that the disulfide-linked E2_{UBC1}~ubiquitin was a good mimic for its thioester linked counterpart.²⁷⁰ In contrast, another NMR report suggested that a disulfide-linked E2~Ubl was not as good a mimic as an oxyester linked E2~Ubl as there was less evidence for interactions between E2_{UBE2R1} and ubiquitin in the case of a disulfide conjugate.²⁶ 7 This discrepancy could be due to interference between the carboxylate group introduced by the disulfide strategy, or because E2_{UBE2R1} contains an extended acidic loop close to the active site that is absent in E2_{UBC1}. Taken together, these studies suggest that the disulfide strategy may not work for all E2s. A variation of the disulfide strategy employs dichloroacetone, a bifunctional cross-linker, to bridge the E2 catalytic cysteine and the last residue of G75C or G76C ubiquitin variants.²⁷³

7.3.3. Isopeptide. Plechanovová et al.¹⁶¹ reported the successful isolation an E2~ubiquitin mimic by replacing the catalytic cysteine with a lysine residue that can be conjugated to ubiquitin at high pH directly from E1~ubiquitin thioester resulting in a stable peptide bond between the E2 and ubiquitin. Isolation of the E2-Lys-ubiquitin adduct enabled structure determination of an E3_{RNF4}/E2_{UBCH5A}~ubiquitin complex, and isolation of a complex that mimics the activated state prior to conjugation with E2-Lys-ubiquitin in the closed conformation. Since then, multiple studies have used the same strategy to characterize various E2~ubiquitin com-plexes.^{160,162,163,165,202,229–231,274–276} A variation of this strategy was recently reported where a residue proximal to the E2 catalytic cysteine was mutated to lysine.²⁰⁰ In this case, the E2 is charged by E1 to generate an E2~SUMO thioester with subsequent attack by the engineered lysine to generate a stable peptide bond that leaves the E2 catalytic cysteine available for additional modifications (see below).

7.3.4. Thioether. Mulder et al.²⁷⁷ formed a thioether bond between an E2 and a ubiquitin variant where the last glycine residue is replaced by an electrophilic dehydroalanine residue. This variant requires activation by E1, a reaction that also generates thioether-linked E1–ubiquitin as a byproduct. This technique was used to isolate E2~ubiquitin and E2~NEDD8 complexes resulting in the structure determination of an $E2_{UBCHSC}$ ~ubiquitin complex. Comparison of this structure to a previously determined complex containing an oxyester revealed quasi-identical E2 active site organization with the exception of increased disorder of Arg90, presumably to accommodate the carboxylate group introduced by this strategy.

7.3.5. Substrate and Product Complexes. Substrates or conjugated products that fail to dissociate from the E2 can sometimes be used to trap complexes that closely resemble conformations for the substrates prior to peptide bond formation. As an example, the C-terminal domain of mammalian RANGAP1 interacts with $E2_{UBC9}$ prior to and after conjugation to SUMO via an extended interface that includes a canonical SUMO modification motif.¹⁵³ Structural and biochemical analyses of several RANGAP1/E2 $_{\rm UBC9}$ complexes suggested that the substrate lysine was positioned close to where it would be in an E2_{UBC9}~SUMO thioester complex and that residues surrounding the E2 active site were positioned to facilitate the reaction.^{154,159,164} Subsequent isolation of product inhibited complexes enabled purification and structural characterization of two E3 ligase domains from RANBP2 and ZNF451 by combining the E3 domains with E2_{UBC9}, and SUMO conjugated RANGAP1 to isolate E3_{RANBP2}/ $E2_{UBC9}$ × SUMO complex mimics^{154,159} and an $E3_{ZNF451}$ $E2_{UBC9}$ ~SUMO complex mimic.¹⁶⁴ In each of these complexes, the RANGAP1 lysine was conjugated to SUMO via an isopeptide bond, SUMO was observed in the closed and activated conformation, and the C-terminal SUMO glycine reside was positioned just above the active site cysteine with its C-terminal carbonyl oxygen pointing toward the conserved E2 asparagine residue suggesting that the product complexes resemble the substrate complexes immediately after conjugation.

7.4. Trapping E2/E3 Complexes

Unlike the examples described above for RANGAP1, most E2/ E3 complexes are unstable and are not easily isolated for structural or biochemical studies. Stabilization of transient E2/ E3 interactions can be achieved by linear fusion of these proteins. For example, a weak interaction between $E2_{UBCHSC}$ and $E3_{RING1B}$ was overcome by using an E3–E2 linear fusion and this fusion was instrumental in forming a complex between a nucleosome, $E2_{UBCHSC}$, $E3_{RING1B}$, and $E3_{BMII}$.²³⁵ Although successful, this approach prevented loading of the E2 with ubiquitin because the fused E3 masks E2 regions important for E1 interaction.²³⁵ In a second example, fusing a SUMO molecule to the C-terminus of $E3_{SIZ1}$ enhanced interactions between the SUMO $E3_{SIZ1}$ and $E2_{UBC9}$ by positioning the fused SUMO for interaction with the backside of $E2_{UBC9}$.²⁰⁰ In a last example, genetically fusing $E2_{UBE2T}$ at the C-terminus of the $E3_{FANCL}$ RING domain was reported to be critical for obtaining

a high-resolution structure of the complex.²²³

7.5. Trapping Ubl~E2/Substrate Complexes

Successful strategies for trapping Ubl~E2/substrate structures include use of a three-way cross-linking strategy that was developed to trap a complex consisting of the HECT E3_{RSP5}, ubiquitin, and a substrate (Figure 21).²⁷⁸ A similar approach



Figure 21. Chemical structures representing methods for trapping Ubl~E2/substrate complexes. Non-native linkages or residues are colored red.

was then used to tether $E2_{UBCH10}$, ubiquitin, and a substrate within an APC complex.²⁷⁹ In this case, the substrate was synthesized with an azidohomoalanine in lieu of a target lysine. This allowed the addition of a bifunctional maleimide-based cross-linker via click chemistry. This cross-linker was in turn reacted with E2_{UBCH10} and a ubiquitin variant possessing a cysteine residue at position 75. A second method for crosslinking a Ubl~E2/substrate complex involved use of an E2_{UBC9} variant where a residue proximal to E2 catalytic cysteine was mutated to lysine so that it could be conjugated to SUMO while leaving the E2 active site cysteine intact.²⁰⁰ By combining the conjugated E2 variant with a substrate that substituted the target lysine to cysteine, the authors were able to cross-link the E2 and substrate cysteine residues using ethanedithiol, a molecule that closely resembles the lysine side chain with respect to the number of bridging atoms when compared to the predicted tetrahedral intermediate.²⁰⁰

8. CONCLUSION AND FUTURE CHALLENGES

Structural and mechanistic studies depict Ubl conjugation as a highly dynamic process under multiple layers of regulation. Indeed, many of the proteins involved in conjugation pathways can undergo conformational changes that are often integral to their function. Multiple studies laid the groundwork for understanding basic mechanisms underlying conjugation enzymes; however, recent work has highlighted the importance of continued investigation as we continue to uncover important contributions of noncanonical adaptations in enzymes and factors involved in Ub/Ubl conjugation cascades.

Strategies that take advantage of cross-linking and/or fusions to isolate and structurally characterize mimics for intermediates during conjugation cascade have been instrumental to our understanding of the Ubl conjugation machinery. However, these strategies can sometimes lead to deformations, as they are not always isosteric to their native counterparts and often require extensive structure-function analysis to verify the structural contacts in these complexes. Future challenges should be focused on isolation of chemical adducts that more closely resemble the true intermediates or development of methods that extend the lifetime of these intermediates so that better mimics for the transient states can be isolated for investigation.

AUTHOR INFORMATION

Corresponding Author

*E-mail: limac@mskcc.org.

ORCID ®

Christopher D. Lima: 0000-0002-9163-6092 Notes

The authors declare no competing financial interest.

Biographies

Laurent Cappadocia obtained his Ph.D. in biochemistry at the Université de Montréal (Montréal, Québec, Canada) under the supervision of N. Brisson and J. Sygusch. He then trained as a postdoc with J. G. Omichinski at the same university. His work as a postdoc at the Sloan Kettering Institute (New York City, NY, USA) under the supervision of Dr. Christopher D. Lima concerns the biochemical and structural characterization of SUMO E3 ligases.

Christopher D. Lima is an Investigator in the Howard Hughes Medical Institute and Professor and Member in the Structural Biology Program at the Sloan Kettering Institute in New York City, NY, USA. He conducted his doctoral work with A. Mondragon at Northwestern University, Evanston, IL, USA, and postdoctoral studies with W. A. Hendrickson at the Columbia University Medical Center, New York, NY, USA. His laboratory studies structural and molecular mechanisms that underlie post-translational modification by ubiquitin and ubiquitin-like proteins as well as co- and post-transcriptional modifications that contribute to RNA processing and decay.

ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

We would like to thank members of the Lima Lab for discussions during the course of preparing this review, particularly Michael Fishman for his critical reading of the manuscript. Research was supported in part by GM065872 and GM118080 (NIH/NIGMS, C.D.L) and P30CA008748 (NIH/ NCI). Content is the authors' responsibility and does not represent the official views of the NIH. L.C. is supported in part by a fellowship from the Fonds de Recherche du QuébecSanté. C.D.L. is an Investigator of the Howard Hughes Medical Institute.

ABBREVIATIONS

AAD	active adenylation domain
ADP	adenosine diphosphate
AIM	ATG8-interacting motif
AMP	adenosine monophosphate
AMSN	5'-(sulfonylaminodeoxy)adenosine
APC/C	anaphase promoting complex/cyclosome
ATP	adenosine triphosphate
AVSN	5'-(vinylsulfonylaminodeoxy)adenosine
CTD	C-terminal domain
FCCH	first catalytic cysteine half-domain
GlyRS	glycyl-tRNA synthase
HECT	homologous to E6AP C-terminus
IAD	inactive adenylation domain
LIR	LC3-interacting region
LRS	LC3 recognition sequence
NTD	N-terminal domain
PE	phosphatidylethanolamine
RBR	RING-between-RING
RING	really interesting new gene
RLD	rhodanese-like domain
SAMP	small archaeal modifier proteins
SIM	SUMO-interacting motif
UBC	ubiquitin conjugating enzyme
Ubl	ubiquitin-like protein
UFD	ubiquitin fold domain
UFIM	UFM1-interacting motif

REFERENCES

(1) Lorenz, S.; Cantor, A. J.; Rape, M.; Kuriyan, J. Macromolecular Juggling by Ubiquitylation Enzymes. *BMC Biol.* **2013**, *11*, 65.

(2) Metzger, M. B.; Pruneda, J. N.; Klevit, R. E.; Weissman, A. M. RING-Type E3 Ligases: Master Manipulators of E2 Ubiquitin-Conjugating Enzymes and Ubiquitination. *Biochim. Biophys. Acta, Mol. Cell Res.* **2014**, *1843*, 47–60.

(3) Spratt, D. E.; Walden, H.; Shaw, G. S. RBR E3 Ubiquitin Ligases: New Structures, New Insights, New Questions. *Biochem. J.* **2014**, *458*, 421–437.

(4) Berndsen, C. E.; Wolberger, C. New Insights into Ubiquitin E3 Ligase Mechanism. *Nat. Struct. Mol. Biol.* **2014**, *21*, 301–307.

(5) Streich, F. C., Jr.; Lima, C. D. Structural and Functional Insights to Ubiquitin-Like Protein Conjugation. *Annu. Rev. Biophys.* **2014**, *43*, 357–379.

(6) Chaugule, V. K.; Walden, H. Specificity and Disease in the Ubiquitin System. *Biochem. Soc. Trans.* **2016**, *44*, 212–227.

(7) Stewart, M. D.; Ritterhoff, T.; Klevit, R. E.; Brzovic, P. S. E2 Enzymes: More Than Just Middle Men. *Cell Res.* **2016**, *26*, 423–440.

(8) Buetow, L.; Huang, D. T. Structural Insights into the Catalysis and Regulation of E3 Ubiquitin Ligases. *Nat. Rev. Mol. Cell Biol.* **2016**, 17, 626–642.

(9) Burroughs, A. M.; Balaji, S.; Iyer, L. M.; Aravind, L. Small but Versatile: The Extraordinary Functional and Structural Diversity of the Beta-Grasp Fold. *Biol. Direct* **2007**, *2*, 18.

(10) Lake, M. W.; Wuebbens, M. M.; Rajagopalan, K. V.; Schindelin, H. Mechanism of Ubiquitin Activation Revealed by the Structure of a Bacterial MoeB-MoaD Complex. *Nature* **2001**, *414*, 325–329.

(11) Lehmann, C.; Begley, T. P.; Ealick, S. E. Structure of the Escherichia coli ThiS-ThiF Complex, a Key Component of the Sulfur Transfer System in Thiamin Biosynthesis. *Biochemistry* **2006**, *45*, 11–19.

(12) Humbard, M. A.; Miranda, H. V.; Lim, J. M.; Krause, D. J.; Pritz, J. R.; Zhou, G.; Chen, S.; Wells, L.; Maupin-Furlow, J. A. Ubiquitin-

Like Small Archaeal Modifier Proteins (SAMPs) in Haloferax volcanii. *Nature* **2010**, *463*, 54–60.

(13) Maupin-Furlow, J. A. Ubiquitin-Like Proteins and Their Roles in Archaea. *Trends Microbiol.* **2013**, *21*, 31–38.

(14) Nunoura, T.; Takaki, Y.; Kakuta, J.; Nishi, S.; Sugahara, J.; Kazama, H.; Chee, G. J.; Hattori, M.; Kanai, A.; Atomi, H.; et al. Insights into the Evolution of Archaea and Eukaryotic Protein Modifier Systems Revealed by the Genome of a Novel Archaeal Group. *Nucleic Acids Res.* **2011**, *39*, 3204–3223.

(15) Zuin, A.; Isasa, M.; Crosas, B. Ubiquitin Signaling: Extreme Conservation as a Source of Diversity. *Cells* **2014**, *3*, 690–701.

(16) Grau-Bové, X.; Sebé-Pedrós, A.; Ruiz-Trillo, I. The Eukaryotic Ancestor Had a Complex Ubiquitin Signaling System of Archaeal Origin. *Mol. Biol. Evol.* **2015**, *32*, 726–739.

(17) Hochstrasser, M. Origin and Function of Ubiquitin-Like Proteins. *Nature* **2009**, 458, 422–429.

(18) van der Veen, A. G.; Ploegh, H. L. Ubiquitin-Like Proteins. Annu. Rev. Biochem. 2012, 81, 323-357.

(19) Jentsch, S.; Pyrowolakis, G. Ubiquitin and Its Kin: How Close Are the Family Ties? *Trends Cell Biol.* **2000**, *10*, 335–342.

(20) Lüders, J.; Pyrowolakis, G.; Jentsch, S. The Ubiquitin-Like Protein HUB1 Forms SDS-Resistant Complexes with Cellular Proteins in the Absence of ATP. *EMBO Rep.* **2003**, *4*, 1169–1174.

(21) Yashiroda, H.; Tanaka, K. Hub1 Is an Essential Ubiquitin-Like Protein without Functioning as a Typical Modifier in Fission Yeast. *Genes Cells* **2004**, *9*, 1189–1197.

(22) Novatchkova, M.; Bachmair, A.; Eisenhaber, B.; Eisenhaber, F. Proteins with Two SUMO-Like Domains in Chromatin-Associated Complexes: The RENi (Rad60-Esc2-NIP45) Family. *BMC Bioinf.* **2005**, *6*, 22.

(23) Rossman, T. G.; Visalli, M. A.; Komissarova, E. V. Fau and Its Ubiquitin-Like Domain (FUBI) Transforms Human Osteogenic Sarcoma (HOS) Cells to Anchorage-Independence. *Oncogene* **2003**, *22*, 1817–1821.

(24) Guo, D.; Li, M.; Zhang, Y.; Yang, P.; Eckenrode, S.; Hopkins, D.; Zheng, W.; Purohit, S.; Podolsky, R. H.; Muir, A.; et al. A Functional Variant of SUMO4, a New I Kappa B Alpha Modifier, Is Associated with Type 1 Diabetes. *Nat. Genet.* **2004**, *36*, 837–841.

(25) Owerbach, D.; McKay, E. M.; Yeh, E. T.; Gabbay, K. H.; Bohren, K. M. A Proline-90 Residue Unique to SUMO-4 Prevents Maturation and Sumoylation. *Biochem. Biophys. Res. Commun.* 2005, 337, 517–520.

(26) Wei, W.; Yang, P.; Pang, J.; Zhang, S.; Wang, Y.; Wang, M. H.; Dong, Z.; She, J. X.; Wang, C. Y. A Stress-Dependent SUMO4 Sumoylation of Its Substrate Proteins. *Biochem. Biophys. Res. Commun.* **2008**, 375, 454–459.

(27) Liang, Y. C.; Lee, C. C.; Yao, Y. L.; Lai, C. C.; Schmitz, M. L.; Yang, W. M. SUMO5, a Novel Poly-SUMO Isoform, Regulates PML Nuclear Bodies. *Sci. Rep.* **2016**, *6*, 26509.

(28) Xin, Y.; Yu, L.; Chen, Z.; Zheng, L.; Fu, Q.; Jiang, J.; Zhang, P.; Gong, R.; Zhao, S. Cloning, Expression Patterns, and Chromosome Localization of Three Human and Two Mouse Homologues of GABA(A) Receptor-Associated Protein. *Genomics* **2001**, *74*, 408–413. (29) Zhang, X.; Bogunovic, D.; Payelle-Brogard, B.; Francois-Newton, V.; Speer, S. D.; Yuan, C.; Volpi, S.; Li, Z.; Sanal, O.; Mansouri, D.; et al. Human Intracellular ISG15 Prevents Interferon-Alpha/Beta over-Amplification and Auto-Inflammation. *Nature* **2015**, *517*, 89–93.

(30) Theng, S. S.; Wang, W.; Mah, W. C.; Chan, C.; Zhuo, J.; Gao, Y.; Qin, H.; Lim, L.; Chong, S. S.; Song, J.; et al. Disruption of FAT10-MAD2 Binding Inhibits Tumor Progression. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U. S.* A. 2014, 111, E5282–5291.

(31) Narasimhan, J.; Wang, M.; Fu, Z.; Klein, J. M.; Haas, A. L.; Kim, J. J. Crystal Structure of the Interferon-Induced Ubiquitin-Like Protein ISG15. *J. Biol. Chem.* **2005**, *280*, 27356–27365.

(32) James, T. W.; Frias-Staheli, N.; Bacik, J. P.; Levingston Macleod, J. M.; Khajehpour, M.; García-Sastre, A.; Mark, B. L. Structural Basis for the Removal of Ubiquitin and Interferon-Stimulated Gene 15 by a

Viral Ovarian Tumor Domain-Containing Protease. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U. S. A. 2011, 108, 2222–2227.

(33) Guan, R.; Ma, L. C.; Leonard, P. G.; Amer, B. R.; Sridharan, H.; Zhao, C.; Krug, R. M.; Montelione, G. T. Structural Basis for the Sequence-Specific Recognition of Human ISG15 by the NS1 Protein of Influenza B Virus. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U. S. A.* **2011**, *108*, 13468– 13473.

(34) Paz, Y.; Elazar, Z.; Fass, D. Structure of GATE-16, Membrane Transport Modulator and Mammalian Ortholog of Autophagocytosis Factor Aut7p. J. Biol. Chem. **2000**, 275, 25445–25450.

(35) Ichimura, Y.; Kirisako, T.; Takao, T.; Satomi, Y.; Shimonishi, Y.; Ishihara, N.; Mizushima, N.; Tanida, I.; Kominami, E.; Ohsumi, M.; et al. A Ubiquitin-Like System Mediates Protein Lipidation. *Nature* **2000**, *408*, 488–492.

(36) Suzuki, N. N.; Yoshimoto, K.; Fujioka, Y.; Ohsumi, Y.; Inagaki, F. The Crystal Structure of Plant ATG12 and Its Biological Implication in Autophagy. *Autophagy* **2005**, *1*, 119–126.

(37) Chen, T.; Zhou, T.; He, B.; Yu, H.; Guo, X.; Song, X.; Sha, J. mUbiSiDa: A Comprehensive Database for Protein Ubiquitination Sites in Mammals. *PLoS One* **2014**, *9*, e85744.

(38) Hendriks, I. A.; Vertegaal, A. C. A Comprehensive Compilation of SUMO Proteomics. *Nat. Rev. Mol. Cell Biol.* **2016**, *17*, 581–595.

(39) van der Veen, A. G.; Schorpp, K.; Schlieker, C.; Buti, L.; Damon, J. R.; Spooner, E.; Ploegh, H. L.; Jentsch, S. Role of the Ubiquitin-Like Protein Urm1 as a Noncanonical Lysine-Directed Protein Modifier. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U. S. A.* **2011**, *108*, 1763–1770.

(40) Mizushima, N.; Sugita, H.; Yoshimori, T.; Ohsumi, Y. A New Protein Conjugation System in Human. The Counterpart of the Yeast Apg12p Conjugation System Essential for Autophagy. *J. Biol. Chem.* **1998**, *273*, 33889–33892.

(41) Radoshevich, L.; Murrow, L.; Chen, N.; Fernandez, E.; Roy, S.; Fung, C.; Debnath, J. ATG12 Conjugation to ATG3 Regulates Mitochondrial Homeostasis and Cell Death. *Cell* **2010**, *142*, 590–600.

(42) Chau, V.; Tobias, J. W.; Bachmair, A.; Marriott, D.; Ecker, D. J.; Gonda, D. K.; Varshavsky, A. A Multiubiquitin Chain Is Confined to Specific Lysine in a Targeted Short-Lived Protein. *Science* **1989**, *243*, 1576–1583.

(43) Peng, J.; Schwartz, D.; Elias, J. E.; Thoreen, C. C.; Cheng, D.; Marsischky, G.; Roelofs, J.; Finley, D.; Gygi, S. P. A Proteomics Approach to Understanding Protein Ubiquitination. *Nat. Biotechnol.* **2003**, *21*, 921–926.

(44) Kirisako, T.; Kamei, K.; Murata, S.; Kato, M.; Fukumoto, H.; Kanie, M.; Sano, S.; Tokunaga, F.; Tanaka, K.; Iwai, K. A Ubiquitin Ligase Complex Assembles Linear Polyubiquitin Chains. *EMBO J.* **2006**, *25*, 4877–4887.

(45) Yau, R.; Rape, M. The Increasing Complexity of the Ubiquitin Code. *Nat. Cell Biol.* **2016**, *18*, 579–586.

(46) Tatham, M. H.; Jaffray, E.; Vaughan, O. A.; Desterro, J. M.; Botting, C. H.; Naismith, J. H.; Hay, R. T. Polymeric Chains of SUMO-2 and SUMO-3 Are Conjugated to Protein Substrates by SAE1/SAE2 and Ubc9. *J. Biol. Chem.* **2001**, *276*, 35368–35374.

(47) Jones, J.; Wu, K.; Yang, Y.; Guerrero, C.; Nillegoda, N.; Pan, Z. Q.; Huang, L. A Targeted Proteomic Analysis of the Ubiquitin-Like Modifier Nedd8 and Associated Proteins. *J. Proteome Res.* **2008**, *7*, 1274–1287.

(48) Yoo, H. M.; Kang, S. H.; Kim, J. Y.; Lee, J. E.; Seong, M. W.; Lee, S. W.; Ka, S. H.; Sou, Y. S.; Komatsu, M.; Tanaka, K.; et al. Modification of ASC1 by UFM1 Is Crucial for ERalpha Transactivation and Breast Cancer Development. *Mol. Cell* **2014**, *56*, 261– 274.

(49) Husnjak, K.; Dikic, I. Ubiquitin-Binding Proteins: Decoders of Ubiquitin-Mediated Cellular Functions. *Annu. Rev. Biochem.* **2012**, *81*, 291–322.

(50) Whitby, F. G.; Xia, G.; Pickart, C. M.; Hill, C. P. Crystal Structure of the Human Ubiquitin-Like Protein NEDD8 and Interactions with Ubiquitin Pathway Enzymes. *J. Biol. Chem.* **1998**, 273, 34983–34991.

Review

UBXN7 Docks on Neddylated Cullin Complexes Using Its UIM Motif and Causes HIF1alpha Accumulation. *BMC Biol.* **2012**, *10*, 36.

(52) Enchev, R. I.; Schulman, B. A.; Peter, M. Protein Neddylation: Beyond Cullin-RING Ligases. *Nat. Rev. Mol. Cell Biol.* **2015**, *16*, 30–44.

(53) Hipp, M. S.; Raasi, S.; Groettrup, M.; Schmidtke, G. NEDD8 Ultimate Buster-11 Interacts with the Ubiquitin-Like Protein FAT10 and Accelerates Its Degradation. *J. Biol. Chem.* **2004**, *279*, 16503–16510.

(54) Schmidtke, G.; Kalveram, B.; Weber, E.; Bochtler, P.; Lukasiak, S.; Hipp, M. S.; Groettrup, M. The UBA Domains of NUB1L Are Required for Binding but Not for Accelerated Degradation of the Ubiquitin-Like Modifier FAT10. *J. Biol. Chem.* **2006**, *281*, 20045–20054.

(55) Escobar-Cabrera, E.; Okon, M.; Lau, D. K.; Dart, C. F.; Bonvin, A. M.; McIntosh, L. P. Characterizing the N- and C-Terminal Small Ubiquitin-Like Modifier (SUMO)-Interacting Motifs of the Scaffold Protein DAXX. J. Biol. Chem. **2011**, 286, 19816–19829.

(56) Jardin, C.; Horn, A. H.; Sticht, H. Binding Properties of SUMO-Interacting Motifs (SIMs) in Yeast. J. Mol. Model. 2015, 21, 50.

(57) Namanja, A. T.; Li, Y. J.; Su, Y.; Wong, S.; Lu, J.; Colson, L. T.; Wu, C.; Li, S. S.; Chen, Y. Insights into High Affinity Small Ubiquitin-Like Modifier (SUMO) Recognition by SUMO-Interacting Motifs (SIMs) Revealed by a Combination of NMR and Peptide Array Analysis. J. Biol. Chem. 2012, 287, 3231–3240.

(58) Song, J.; Durrin, L. K.; Wilkinson, T. A.; Krontiris, T. G.; Chen, Y. Identification of a SUMO-Binding Motif That Recognizes SUMO-Modified Proteins. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U. S. A.* **2004**, *101*, 14373–14378.

(59) Song, J.; Zhang, Z.; Hu, W.; Chen, Y. Small Ubiquitin-Like Modifier (SUMO) Recognition of a SUMO Binding Motif: A Reversal of the Bound Orientation. *J. Biol. Chem.* **2005**, *280*, 40122–40129.

(60) Sekiyama, N.; Ikegami, T.; Yamane, T.; Ikeguchi, M.; Uchimura, Y.; Baba, D.; Ariyoshi, M.; Tochio, H.; Saitoh, H.; Shirakawa, M. Structure of the Small Ubiquitin-Like Modifier (SUMO)-Interacting Motif of MBD1-Containing Chromatin-Associated Factor 1 Bound to SUMO-3. J. Biol. Chem. 2008, 283, 35966–35975.

(61) Chang, C. C.; Naik, M. T.; Huang, Y. S.; Jeng, J. C.; Liao, P. H.; Kuo, H. Y.; Ho, C. C.; Hsieh, Y. L.; Lin, C. H.; Huang, N. J.; et al. Structural and Functional Roles of Daxx SIM Phosphorylation in SUMO Paralog-Selective Binding and Apoptosis Modulation. *Mol. Cell* **2011**, *42*, 62–74.

(62) Anamika; Spyracopoulos, L. Molecular Basis for Phosphorylation-Dependent SUMO Recognition by the DNA Repair Protein RAP80. J. Biol. Chem. **2016**, 291, 4417–4428.

(63) Kung, C. C.; Naik, M. T.; Wang, S. H.; Shih, H. M.; Chang, C. C.; Lin, L. Y.; Chen, C. L.; Ma, C.; Chang, C. F.; Huang, T. H. Structural Analysis of Poly-SUMO Chain Recognition by the RNF4-SIMs Domain. *Biochem. J.* **2014**, *462*, 53–65.

(64) Stehmeier, P.; Muller, S. Phospho-Regulated SUMO Interaction Modules Connect the SUMO System to CK2 Signaling. *Mol. Cell* **2009**, 33, 400–409.

(65) Cappadocia, L.; Mascle, X. H.; Bourdeau, V.; Tremblay-Belzile, S.; Chaker-Margot, M.; Lussier-Price, M.; Wada, J.; Sakaguchi, K.; Aubry, M.; Ferbeyre, G.; et al. Structural and Functional Characterization of the Phosphorylation-Dependent Interaction between PML and SUMO1. *Structure* **2015**, *23*, 126–138.

(66) Hecker, C. M.; Rabiller, M.; Haglund, K.; Bayer, P.; Dikic, I. Specification of SUMO1- and SUMO2-Interacting Motifs. *J. Biol. Chem.* **2006**, *281*, 16117–16127.

(67) Ullmann, R.; Chien, C. D.; Avantaggiati, M. L.; Muller, S. An Acetylation Switch Regulates SUMO-Dependent Protein Interaction Networks. *Mol. Cell* **2012**, *46*, 759–770.

(68) Sun, H.; Hunter, T. Poly-Small Ubiquitin-Like Modifier (PolySUMO)-Binding Proteins Identified through a String Search. J. Biol. Chem. 2012, 287, 42071-42083.

(69) Keusekotten, K.; Bade, V. N.; Meyer-Teschendorf, K.; Sriramachandran, A. M.; Fischer-Schrader, K.; Krause, A.; Horst, C.; Schwarz, G.; Hofmann, K.; Dohmen, R. J.; et al. Multivalent Interactions of the SUMO-Interaction Motifs in RING Finger Protein 4 Determine the Specificity for Chains of the SUMO. *Biochem. J.* **2014**, 457, 207–214.

(70) Xu, Y.; Plechanovová, A.; Simpson, P.; Marchant, J.; Leidecker, O.; Kraatz, S.; Hay, R. T.; Matthews, S. J. Structural Insight into SUMO Chain Recognition and Manipulation by the Ubiquitin Ligase RNF4. *Nat. Commun.* **2014**, *5*, 4217.

(71) Aguilar-Martinez, E.; Chen, X.; Webber, A.; Mould, A. P.; Seifert, A.; Hay, R. T.; Sharrocks, A. D. Screen for Multi-SUMO-Binding Proteins Reveals a Multi-SIM-Binding Mechanism for Recruitment of the Transcriptional Regulator ZMYM2 to Chromatin. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U. S. A.* **2015**, *112*, E4854–4863.

(72) Danielsen, J. R.; Povlsen, L. K.; Villumsen, B. H.; Streicher, W.; Nilsson, J.; Wikström, M.; Bekker-Jensen, S.; Mailand, N. DNA Damage-Inducible SUMOylation of HERC2 Promotes RNF8 Binding Via a Novel SUMO-Binding Zinc Finger. *J. Cell Biol.* **2012**, *197*, 179– 187.

(73) Diehl, C.; Akke, M.; Bekker-Jensen, S.; Mailand, N.; Streicher, W.; Wikstrom, M. Structural Analysis of a Complex between Small Ubiquitin-Like Modifier 1 (SUMO1) and the ZZ Domain of CREB-Binding Protein (CBP/p300) Reveals a New Interaction Surface on SUMO. J. Biol. Chem. **2016**, 291, 12658–12672.

(74) Guzzo, C. M.; Ringel, A.; Cox, E.; Uzoma, I.; Zhu, H.; Blackshaw, S.; Wolberger, C.; Matunis, M. J. Characterization of the SUMO-Binding Activity of the Myeloproliferative and Mental Retardation (MYM)-Type Zinc Fingers in ZNF261 and ZNF198. *PLoS One* **2014**, *9*, e105271.

(75) Birgisdottir, Å. B.; Lamark, T.; Johansen, T. The LIR Motif -Crucial for Selective Autophagy. J. Cell Sci. 2013, 126, 3237–3247.

(76) Kalvari, I.; Tsompanis, S.; Mulakkal, N. C.; Osgood, R.; Johansen, T.; Nezis, I. P.; Promponas, V. J. iLIR: A Web Resource for Prediction of Atg8-Family Interacting Proteins. *Autophagy* **2014**, *10*, 913–925.

(77) Rogov, V. V.; Suzuki, H.; Fiskin, E.; Wild, P.; Kniss, A.; Rozenknop, A.; Kato, R.; Kawasaki, M.; McEwan, D. G.; Löhr, F.; et al. Structural Basis for Phosphorylation-Triggered Autophagic Clearance of Salmonella. *Biochem. J.* **2013**, *454*, 459–466.

(78) Suzuki, H.; Tabata, K.; Morita, E.; Kawasaki, M.; Kato, R.; Dobson, R. C.; Yoshimori, T.; Wakatsuki, S. Structural Basis of the Autophagy-Related LC3/Atg13 LIR Complex: Recognition and Interaction Mechanism. *Structure* **2014**, *22*, 47–58.

(79) McEwan, D. G.; Popovic, D.; Gubas, A.; Terawaki, S.; Suzuki, H.; Stadel, D.; Coxon, F. P.; Miranda de Stegmann, D.; Bhogaraju, S.; Maddi, K.; et al. PLEKHM1 Regulates Autophagosome-Lysosome Fusion through HOPS Complex and LC3/GABARAP Proteins. *Mol. Cell* **2015**, *57*, 39–54.

(80) Wu, F.; Watanabe, Y.; Guo, X. Y.; Qi, X.; Wang, P.; Zhao, H. Y.; Wang, Z.; Fujioka, Y.; Zhang, H.; Ren, J. Q.; et al. Structural Basis of the Differential Function of the Two C. elegans Atg8 Homologs, LGG-1 and LGG-2, in Autophagy. *Mol. Cell* **2015**, *60*, 914–929.

(81) Wild, P.; Farhan, H.; McEwan, D. G.; Wagner, S.; Rogov, V. V.; Brady, N. R.; Richter, B.; Korac, J.; Waidmann, O.; Choudhary, C.; et al. Phosphorylation of the Autophagy Receptor Optineurin Restricts Salmonella Growth. *Science* **2011**, *333*, 228–233.

(82) Zhu, Y.; Massen, S.; Terenzio, M.; Lang, V.; Chen-Lindner, S.; Eils, R.; Novak, I.; Dikic, I.; Hamacher-Brady, A.; Brady, N. R. Modulation of Serines 17 and 24 in the LC3-Interacting Region of Bnip3 Determines Pro-Survival Mitophagy Versus Apoptosis. *J. Biol. Chem.* **2013**, 288, 1099–1113.

(83) Liu, L.; Feng, D.; Chen, G.; Chen, M.; Zheng, Q.; Song, P.; Ma, Q.; Zhu, C.; Wang, R.; Qi, W.; et al. Mitochondrial Outer-Membrane Protein FUNDC1 Mediates Hypoxia-Induced Mitophagy in Mammalian Cells. *Nat. Cell Biol.* **2012**, *14*, 177–185.

(84) Chen, G.; Han, Z.; Feng, D.; Chen, Y.; Chen, L.; Wu, H.; Huang, L.; Zhou, C.; Cai, X.; Fu, C.; et al. A Regulatory Signaling Loop Comprising the PGAM5 Phosphatase and CK2 Controls Receptor-Mediated Mitophagy. *Mol. Cell* **2014**, *54*, 362–377. (85) Kuang, Y.; Ma, K.; Zhou, C.; Ding, P.; Zhu, Y.; Chen, Q.; Xia, B. Structural Basis for the Phosphorylation of FUNDC1 LIR as a Molecular Switch of Mitophagy. *Autophagy* **2016**, *12*, 2363–2373.

(86) Olsvik, H. L.; Lamark, T.; Takagi, K.; Larsen, K. B.; Evjen, G.; Øvervatn, A.; Mizushima, T.; Johansen, T. FYCO1 Contains a C-Terminally Extended, LC3A/B-Preferring LC3-Interacting Region (LIR) Motif Required for Efficient Maturation of Autophagosomes During Basal Autophagy. J. Biol. Chem. **2015**, 290, 29361–29374.

(87) Cheng, X.; Wang, Y.; Gong, Y.; Li, F.; Guo, Y.; Hu, S.; Liu, J.; Pan, L. Structural Basis of FYCO1 and MAP1LC3A Interaction Reveals a Novel Binding Mode for Atg8-Family Proteins. *Autophagy* **2016**, *12*, 1330–1339.

(88) Kaufmann, A.; Beier, V.; Franquelim, H. G.; Wollert, T. Molecular Mechanism of Autophagic Membrane-Scaffold Assembly and Disassembly. *Cell* **2014**, *156*, 469–481.

(89) Habisov, S.; Huber, J.; Ichimura, Y.; Akutsu, M.; Rogova, N.; Loehr, F.; McEwan, D. G.; Johansen, T.; Dikic, I.; Doetsch, V.; et al. Structural and Functional Analysis of a Novel Interaction Motif within UFM1-Activating Enzyme 5 (UBA5) Required for Binding to Ubiquitin-Like Proteins and Ufmylation. *J. Biol. Chem.* **2016**, *291*, 9025–9041.

(90) Metlagel, Z.; Otomo, C.; Takaesu, G.; Otomo, T. Structural Basis of ATG3 Recognition by the Autophagic Ubiquitin-Like Protein ATG12. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U. S. A.* **2013**, *110*, 18844–18849.

(91) Schulman, B. A.; Harper, J. W. Ubiquitin-Like Protein Activation by E1 Enzymes: The Apex for Downstream Signalling Pathways. *Nat. Rev. Mol. Cell Biol.* **2009**, *10*, 319–331.

(92) Walden, H.; Podgorski, M. S.; Schulman, B. A. Insights into the Ubiquitin Transfer Cascade from the Structure of the Activating Enzyme for NEDD8. *Nature* **2003**, *422*, 330–334.

(93) Walden, H.; Podgorski, M. S.; Huang, D. T.; Miller, D. W.; Howard, R. J.; Minor, D. L., Jr.; Holton, J. M.; Schulman, B. A. The Structure of the APPBP1-UBA3-NEDD8-ATP Complex Reveals the Basis for Selective Ubiquitin-Like Protein Activation by an E1. *Mol. Cell* **2003**, *12*, 1427–1437.

(94) Huang, D. T.; Paydar, A.; Zhuang, M.; Waddell, M. B.; Holton, J. M.; Schulman, B. A. Structural Basis for Recruitment of Ubc12 by an E2 Binding Domain in NEDD8's E1. *Mol. Cell* **2005**, *17*, 341–350.

(95) Tokgöz, Z.; Siepmann, T. J.; Streich, F., Jr.; Kumar, B.; Klein, J. M.; Haas, A. L. E1-E2 Interactions in Ubiquitin and Nedd8 Ligation Pathways. *J. Biol. Chem.* **2012**, *287*, 311–321.

(96) Olsen, S. K.; Lima, C. D. Structure of a Ubiquitin E1-E2 Complex: Insights to E1-E2 Thioester Transfer. *Mol. Cell* **2013**, *49*, 884–896.

(97) Huang, D. T.; Hunt, H. W.; Zhuang, M.; Ohi, M. D.; Holton, J. M.; Schulman, B. A. Basis for a Ubiquitin-Like Protein Thioester Switch Toggling E1-E2 Affinity. *Nature* **2007**, *445*, 394–398.

(98) Olsen, S. K.; Capili, A. D.; Lu, X.; Tan, D. S.; Lima, C. D. Active Site Remodelling Accompanies Thioester Bond Formation in the SUMO E1. *Nature* **2010**, *463*, 906–912.

(99) Wang, J.; Lee, B.; Cai, S.; Fukui, L.; Hu, W.; Chen, Y. Conformational Transition Associated with E1-E2 Interaction in Small Ubiquitin-Like Modifications. *J. Biol. Chem.* **2009**, *284*, 20340–20348.

(100) Elgin, E. S.; Sökmen, N.; Peterson, F. C.; Volkman, B. F.; Dağ, C.; Haas, A. L. E2-Binding Surface on Uba3 Beta-Grasp Domain Undergoes a Conformational Transition. *Proteins: Struct., Funct., Genet.* **2012**, *80*, 2482–2487.

(101) Lois, L. M.; Lima, C. D. Structures of the SUMO E1 Provide Mechanistic Insights into SUMO Activation and E2 Recruitment to E1. *EMBO J.* **2005**, *24*, 439–451.

(102) Haas, A. L.; Rose, I. A. The Mechanism of Ubiquitin Activating Enzyme. A Kinetic and Equilibrium Analysis. *J. Biol. Chem.* **1982**, 257, 10329–10337.

(103) Haas, A. L.; Warms, J. V.; Rose, I. A. Ubiquitin Adenylate: Structure and Role in Ubiquitin Activation. *Biochemistry* **1983**, *22*, 4388–4394.

(104) Schäfer, A.; Kuhn, M.; Schindelin, H. Structure of the Ubiquitin-Activating Enzyme Loaded with Two Ubiquitin Molecules. *Acta Crystallogr, Sect. D: Biol. Crystallogr.* **2014**, *70*, 1311–1320.

(105) Lu, X.; Olsen, S. K.; Capili, A. D.; Cisar, J. S.; Lima, C. D.; Tan, D. S. Designed Semisynthetic Protein Inhibitors of Ub/Ubl E1 Activating Enzymes. J. Am. Chem. Soc. **2010**, *132*, 1748–1749.

(106) Huang, D. T.; Miller, D. W.; Mathew, R.; Cassell, R.; Holton, J. M.; Roussel, M. F.; Schulman, B. A. A Unique E1-E2 Interaction Required for Optimal Conjugation of the Ubiquitin-Like Protein NEDD8. *Nat. Struct. Mol. Biol.* **2004**, *11*, 927–935.

(107) Huang, D. T.; Ayrault, O.; Hunt, H. W.; Taherbhoy, A. M.; Duda, D. M.; Scott, D. C.; Borg, L. A.; Neale, G.; Murray, P. J.; Roussel, M. F.; et al. E2-RING Expansion of the NEDD8 Cascade Confers Specificity to Cullin Modification. *Mol. Cell* **2009**, *33*, 483– 495.

(108) Lee, I.; Schindelin, H. Structural Insights into E1-Catalyzed Ubiquitin Activation and Transfer to Conjugating Enzymes. *Cell* **2008**, *134*, 268–278.

(109) Correale, S.; de Paola, I.; Morgillo, C. M.; Federico, A.; Zaccaro, L.; Pallante, P.; Galeone, A.; Fusco, A.; Pedone, E.; Luque, F. J.; et al. Structural Model of the hUbA1-UbcH10 Quaternary Complex: In Silico and Experimental Analysis of the Protein-Protein Interactions between E1, E2 and Ubiquitin. *PLoS One* **2014**, *9*, e112082.

(110) Huang, D. T.; Walden, H.; Duda, D.; Schulman, B. A. Ubiquitin-Like Protein Activation. *Oncogene* **2004**, *23*, 1958–1971.

(111) Bohnsack, R. N.; Haas, A. L. Conservation in the Mechanism of Nedd8 Activation by the Human AppBp1-Uba3 Heterodimer. *J. Biol. Chem.* **2003**, *278*, 26823–26830.

(112) Huang, D. T.; Zhuang, M.; Ayrault, O.; Schulman, B. A. Identification of Conjugation Specificity Determinants Unmasks Vestigial Preference for Ubiquitin within the NEDD8 E2. *Nat. Struct. Mol. Biol.* **2008**, *15*, 280–287.

(113) Souphron, J.; Waddell, M. B.; Paydar, A.; Tokgöz-Gromley, Z.; Roussel, M. F.; Schulman, B. A. Structural Dissection of a Gating Mechanism Preventing Misactivation of Ubiquitin by NEDD8's E1. *Biochemistry* **2008**, *47*, 8961–8969.

(114) Pelzer, C.; Kassner, I.; Matentzoglu, K.; Singh, R. K.; Wollscheid, H. P.; Scheffner, M.; Schmidtke, G.; Groettrup, M. UBE1L2, a Novel E1 Enzyme Specific for Ubiquitin. *J. Biol. Chem.* **2007**, *282*, 23010–23014.

(115) Jin, J.; Li, X.; Gygi, S. P.; Harper, J. W. Dual E1 Activation Systems for Ubiquitin Differentially Regulate E2 Enzyme Charging. *Nature* **2007**, 447, 1135–1138.

(116) Chiu, Y. H.; Sun, Q.; Chen, Z. J. E1-L2 Activates Both Ubiquitin and FAT10. *Mol. Cell* **2007**, *27*, 1014–1023.

(117) Aichem, A.; Pelzer, C.; Lukasiak, S.; Kalveram, B.; Sheppard, P. W.; Rani, N.; Schmidtke, G.; Groettrup, M. USE1 Is a Bispecific Conjugating Enzyme for Ubiquitin and FAT10, Which FAT10ylates Itself in Cis. *Nat. Commun.* **2010**, *1*, 13.

(118) Gavin, J. M.; Chen, J. J.; Liao, H.; Rollins, N.; Yang, X.; Xu, Q.; Ma, J.; Loke, H. K.; Lingaraj, T.; Brownell, J. E.; et al. Mechanistic Studies on Activation of Ubiquitin and Di-Ubiquitin-Like Protein, FAT10, by Ubiquitin-Like Modifier Activating Enzyme 6, Uba6. J. Biol. Chem. **2012**, 287, 15512–15522.

(119) Schelpe, J.; Monté, D.; Dewitte, F.; Sixma, T. K.; Rucktooa, P. Structure of UBE2Z Enzyme Provides Functional Insight into Specificity in the FAT10 Protein Conjugation Machinery. *J. Biol. Chem.* **2016**, *291*, 630–639.

(120) Wang, J.; Taherbhoy, A. M.; Hunt, H. W.; Seyedin, S. N.; Miller, D. W.; Miller, D. J.; Huang, D. T.; Schulman, B. A. Crystal Structure of UBA2(Ufd)-Ubc9: Insights into E1-E2 Interactions in Sumo Pathways. *PLoS One* **2010**, *5*, e15805.

(121) Reiter, K. H.; Ramachandran, A.; Xia, X.; Boucher, L. E.; Bosch, J.; Matunis, M. J. Characterization and Structural Insights into Selective E1-E2 Interactions in the Human and Plasmodium Falciparum SUMO Conjugation Systems. *J. Biol. Chem.* **2016**, *291*, 3860–3870.

(122) Truong, K.; Lee, T. D.; Chen, Y. Small Ubiquitin-Like Modifier (SUMO) Modification of E1 Cys Domain Inhibits E1 Cys Domain Enzymatic Activity. *J. Biol. Chem.* **2012**, *287*, 15154–15163. (124) Bossis, G.; Melchior, F. Regulation of SUMOylation by Reversible Oxidation of SUMO Conjugating Enzymes. *Mol. Cell* **2006**, *21*, 349–357.

(125) Doris, K. S.; Rumsby, E. L.; Morgan, B. A. Oxidative Stress Responses Involve Oxidation of a Conserved Ubiquitin Pathway Enzyme. *Mol. Cell. Biol.* **2012**, *32*, 4472–4481.

(126) Wu, C.; Liu, Y.; Gu, X.; Zhu, T.; Yang, S.; Sun, W. LMO2 Blocks the UBA6-USE1 Interaction and Downstream FAT10ylation by Targeting the Ubiquitin Fold Domain of UBA6. *Biochem. Biophys. Res. Commun.* **2016**, 478, 1442–1448.

(127) Mo, Z.; Zhang, Q.; Liu, Z.; Lauer, J.; Shi, Y.; Sun, L.; Griffin, P. R.; Yang, X. L. Neddylation Requires Glycyl-tRNA Synthetase to Protect Activated E2. *Nat. Struct. Mol. Biol.* **2016**, *23*, 730–737.

(128) Leidel, S.; Pedrioli, P. G.; Bucher, T.; Brost, R.; Costanzo, M.; Schmidt, A.; Aebersold, R.; Boone, C.; Hofmann, K.; Peter, M. Ubiquitin-Related Modifier Urm1 Acts as a Sulphur Carrier in Thiolation of Eukaryotic Transfer RNA. *Nature* **2009**, *458*, 228–232. (129) Furukawa, K.; Mizushima, N.; Noda, T.; Ohsumi, Y. A Protein

Conjugation System in Yeast with Homology to Biosynthetic Enzyme Reaction of Prokaryotes. J. Biol. Chem. 2000, 275, 7462-7465.

(130) Schmitz, J.; Chowdhury, M. M.; Hänzelmann, P.; Nimtz, M.; Lee, E. Y.; Schindelin, H.; Leimkühler, S. The Sulfurtransferase Activity of Uba4 Presents a Link between Ubiquitin-Like Protein Conjugation and Activation of Sulfur Carrier Proteins. *Biochemistry* **2008**, *47*, 6479–6489.

(131) Noda, N. N.; Satoo, K.; Fujioka, Y.; Kumeta, H.; Ogura, K.; Nakatogawa, H.; Ohsumi, Y.; Inagaki, F. Structural Basis of Atg8 Activation by a Homodimeric E1, Atg7. *Mol. Cell* **2011**, *44*, 462–475.

(132) Kaiser, S. E.; Mao, K.; Taherbhoy, A. M.; Yu, S.; Olszewski, J. L.; Duda, D. M.; Kurinov, I.; Deng, A.; Fenn, T. D.; Klionsky, D. J.; et al. Noncanonical E2 Recruitment by the Autophagy E1 Revealed by Atg7-Atg3 and Atg7-Atg10 Structures. *Nat. Struct. Mol. Biol.* **2012**, *19*, 1242–1249.

(133) Hong, S. B.; Kim, B. W.; Lee, K. E.; Kim, S. W.; Jeon, H.; Kim, J.; Song, H. K. Insights into Noncanonical E1 Enzyme Activation from the Structure of Autophagic E1 Atg7 with Atg8. *Nat. Struct. Mol. Biol.* **2011**, *18*, 1323–1330.

(134) Yamazaki-Sato, H.; Tanida, I.; Ueno, T.; Kominami, E. The Carboxyl Terminal 17 Amino Acids within Apg7 Are Essential for Apg8 Lipidation, but Not for Apg12 Conjugation. *FEBS Lett.* **2003**, *551*, 71–77.

(135) Yamada, Y.; Suzuki, N. N.; Hanada, T.; Ichimura, Y.; Kumeta, H.; Fujioka, Y.; Ohsumi, Y.; Inagaki, F. The Crystal Structure of Atg3, an Autophagy-Related Ubiquitin Carrier Protein (E2) Enzyme That Mediates Atg8 Lipidation. *J. Biol. Chem.* **2007**, *282*, 8036–8043.

(136) Taherbhoy, A. M.; Tait, S. W.; Kaiser, S. E.; Williams, A. H.; Deng, A.; Nourse, A.; Hammel, M.; Kurinov, I.; Rock, C. O.; Green, D. R.; et al. Atg8 Transfer from Atg7 to Atg3: A Distinctive E1-E2 Architecture and Mechanism in the Autophagy Pathway. *Mol. Cell* **2011**, *44*, 451–461.

(137) Yamaguchi, M.; Matoba, K.; Sawada, R.; Fujioka, Y.; Nakatogawa, H.; Yamamoto, H.; Kobashigawa, Y.; Hoshida, H.; Akada, R.; Ohsumi, Y.; et al. Noncanonical Recognition and UBL Loading of Distinct E2s by Autophagy-Essential Atg7. *Nat. Struct. Mol. Biol.* **2012**, *19*, 1250–1256.

(138) Komatsu, M.; Chiba, T.; Tatsumi, K.; Iemura, S.; Tanida, I.; Okazaki, N.; Ueno, T.; Kominami, E.; Natsume, T.; Tanaka, K. A Novel Protein-Conjugating System for Ufm1, a Ubiquitin-Fold Modifier. *EMBO J.* **2004**, *23*, 1977–1986.

(139) Bacik, J. P.; Walker, J. R.; Ali, M.; Schimmer, A. D.; Dhe-Paganon, S. Crystal Structure of the Human Ubiquitin-Activating Enzyme 5 (UBA5) Bound to ATP: Mechanistic Insights into a Minimalistic E1 Enzyme. *J. Biol. Chem.* **2010**, *285*, 20273–20280.

(140) Oweis, W.; Padala, P.; Hassouna, F.; Cohen-Kfir, E.; Gibbs, D. R.; Todd, E. A.; Berndsen, C. E.; Wiener, R. Trans-Binding

Mechanism of Ubiquitin-Like Protein Activation Revealed by a UBA5-UFM1 Complex. *Cell Rep.* **2016**, *16*, 3113–3120.

(141) Gavin, J. M.; Hoar, K.; Xu, Q.; Ma, J.; Lin, Y.; Chen, J.; Chen, W.; Bruzzese, F. J.; Harrison, S.; Mallender, W. D.; et al. Mechanistic Study of Uba5 Enzyme and the Ufm1 Conjugation Pathway. *J. Biol. Chem.* **2014**, 289, 22648–22658.

(142) Mizushima, T.; Tatsumi, K.; Ozaki, Y.; Kawakami, T.; Suzuki, A.; Ogasahara, K.; Komatsu, M.; Kominami, E.; Tanaka, K.; Yamane, T. Crystal Structure of Ufc1, the Ufm1-Conjugating Enzyme. *Biochem. Biophys. Res. Commun.* **2007**, *362*, 1079–1084.

(143) Xie, S. Characterization, Crystallization and Preliminary X-Ray Crystallographic Analysis of the Human Uba5 C-Terminus-Ufc1 Complex. Acta Crystallogr., Sect. F: Struct. Biol. Commun. 2014, 70, 1093–1097.

(144) Zheng, M.; Gu, X.; Zheng, D.; Yang, Z.; Li, F.; Zhao, J.; Xie, Y.; Ji, C.; Mao, Y. UBE1DC1, an Ubiquitin-Activating Enzyme, Activates Two Different Ubiquitin-Like Proteins. *J. Cell. Biochem.* **2008**, *104*, 2324–2334.

(145) Jentsch, S.; Seufert, W.; Sommer, T.; Reins, H. A. Ubiquitin-Conjugating Enzymes: Novel Regulators of Eukaryotic Cells. *Trends Biochem. Sci.* **1990**, *15*, 195–198.

(146) Michelle, C.; Vourc'h, P.; Mignon, L.; Andres, C. R. What Was the Set of Ubiquitin and Ubiquitin-Like Conjugating Enzymes in the Eukaryote Common Ancestor? *J. Mol. Evol.* **2009**, *68*, 616–628.

(147) Eletr, Z. M.; Huang, D. T.; Duda, D. M.; Schulman, B. A.; Kuhlman, B. E2 Conjugating Enzymes Must Disengage from Their E1 Enzymes before E3-Dependent Ubiquitin and Ubiquitin-Like Transfer. *Nat. Struct. Mol. Biol.* **2005**, *12*, 933–934.

(148) Qiu, Y.; Hofmann, K.; Coats, J. E.; Schulman, B. A.; Kaiser, S. E. Binding to E1 and E3 Is Mutually Exclusive for the Human Autophagy E2 Atg3. *Protein Sci.* **2013**, *22*, 1691–1697.

(149) Ohashi, K.; Otomo, T. Identification and Characterization of the Linear Region of ATG3 That Interacts with ATG7 in Higher Eukaryotes. *Biochem. Biophys. Res. Commun.* **2015**, *463*, 447–452.

(150) Wenzel, D. M.; Lissounov, A.; Brzovic, P. S.; Klevit, R. E. UBCH7 Reactivity Profile Reveals Parkin and HHARI to be RING/HECT Hybrids. *Nature* **2011**, *474*, 105–108.

(151) Dastur, A.; Beaudenon, S.; Kelley, M.; Krug, R. M.; Huibregtse, J. M. Herc5, an Interferon-Induced HECT E3 Enzyme, Is Required for Conjugation of ISG15 in Human Cells. *J. Biol. Chem.* **2006**, *281*, 4334–4338.

(152) Okumura, F.; Zou, W.; Zhang, D. E. ISG15 Modification of the eIF4E Cognate 4EHP Enhances Cap Structure-Binding Activity of 4EHP. *Genes Dev.* **2007**, *21*, 255–260.

(153) Bernier-Villamor, V.; Sampson, D. A.; Matunis, M. J.; Lima, C. D. Structural Basis for E2-Mediated SUMO Conjugation Revealed by a Complex between Ubiquitin-Conjugating Enzyme Ubc9 and RanGAP1. *Cell* **2002**, *108*, 345–356.

(154) Reverter, D.; Lima, C. D. Insights into E3 Ligase Activity Revealed by a SUMO-RanGAP1-Ubc9-Nup358 Complex. *Nature* **2005**, 435, 687–692.

(155) Yunus, A. A.; Lima, C. D. Lysine Activation and Functional Analysis of E2-Mediated Conjugation in the SUMO Pathway. *Nat. Struct. Mol. Biol.* **2006**, *13*, 491–499.

(156) Wu, P. Y.; Hanlon, M.; Eddins, M.; Tsui, C.; Rogers, R. S.; Jensen, J. P.; Matunis, M. J.; Weissman, A. M.; Wolberger, C.; Pickart, C. M. A Conserved Catalytic Residue in the Ubiquitin-Conjugating Enzyme Family. *EMBO J.* **2003**, *22*, 5241–5250.

(157) Cook, B. W.; Shaw, G. S. Architecture of the Catalytic HPN Motif Is Conserved in All E2 Conjugating Enzymes. *Biochem. J.* 2012, 445, 167–174.

(158) Hamilton, K. S.; Ellison, M. J.; Barber, K. R.; Williams, R. S.; Huzil, J. T.; McKenna, S.; Ptak, C.; Glover, M.; Shaw, G. S. Structure of a Conjugating Enzyme-Ubiquitin Thiolester Intermediate Reveals a Novel Role for the Ubiquitin Tail. *Structure* **2001**, *9*, 897–904.

(159) Gareau, J. R.; Reverter, D.; Lima, C. D. Determinants of Small Ubiquitin-Like Modifier 1 (SUMO1) Protein Specificity, E3 Ligase, and SUMO-RanGAP1 Binding Activities of Nucleoporin RanBP2. *J. Biol. Chem.* **2012**, 287, 4740–4751.

(160) Dou, H.; Buetow, L.; Sibbet, G. J.; Cameron, K.; Huang, D. T. Essentiality of a Non-RING Element in Priming Donor Ubiquitin for Catalysis by a Monomeric E3. *Nat. Struct. Mol. Biol.* **2013**, *20*, 982–986.

(161) Plechanovová, A.; Jaffray, E. G.; Tatham, M. H.; Naismith, J. H.; Hay, R. T. Structure of a RING E3 Ligase and Ubiquitin-Loaded E2 Primed for Catalysis. *Nature* **2012**, *489*, 115–120.

(162) Buetow, L.; Gabrielsen, M.; Anthony, N. G.; Dou, H.; Patel, A.; Aitkenhead, H.; Sibbet, G. J.; Smith, B. O.; Huang, D. T. Activation of a Primed RING E3-E2-Ubiquitin Complex by Non-Covalent Ubiquitin. *Mol. Cell* **2015**, *58*, 297–310.

(163) Branigan, E.; Plechanovová, A.; Jaffray, E. G.; Naismith, J. H.; Hay, R. T. Structural Basis for the RING-Catalyzed Synthesis of K63-Linked Ubiquitin Chains. *Nat. Struct. Mol. Biol.* **2015**, *22*, 597–602.

(164) Cappadocia, L.; Pichler, A.; Lima, C. D. Structural Basis for Catalytic Activation by the Human ZNF451 SUMO E3 Ligase. *Nat. Struct. Mol. Biol.* **2015**, *22*, 968–975.

(165) Sanchez, J. G.; Chiang, J. J.; Sparrer, K. M.; Alam, S. L.; Chi, M.; Roganowicz, M. D.; Sankaran, B.; Gack, M. U.; Pornillos, O. Mechanism of TRIM25 Catalytic Activation in the Antiviral RIG-I Pathway. *Cell Rep.* **2016**, *16*, 1315–1325.

(166) Sakata, E.; Satoh, T.; Yamamoto, S.; Yamaguchi, Y.; Yagi-Utsumi, M.; Kurimoto, E.; Tanaka, K.; Wakatsuki, S.; Kato, K. Crystal Structure of UbcHSb~Ubiquitin Intermediate: Insight into the Formation of the Self-Assembled E2~Ub Conjugates. *Structure* **2010**, *18*, 138–147.

(167) Berndsen, C. E.; Wiener, R.; Yu, I. W.; Ringel, A. E.; Wolberger, C. A Conserved Asparagine Has a Structural Role in Ubiquitin-Conjugating Enzymes. *Nat. Chem. Biol.* **2013**, *9*, 154–156. (168) Valimberti, I.; Tiberti, M.; Lambrughi, M.; Sarcevic, B.; Papaleo, E. E2 Superfamily of Ubiquitin-Conjugating Enzymes: Constitutively Active or Activated through Phosphorylation in the Catalytic Cleft. *Sci. Rep.* **2015**, *5*, 14849.

(169) Sarcevic, B.; Mawson, A.; Baker, R. T.; Sutherland, R. L. Regulation of the Ubiquitin-Conjugating Enzyme hHR6A by CDK-Mediated Phosphorylation. *EMBO J.* 2002, *21*, 2009–2018.

(170) Kumar, B.; Lecompte, K. G.; Klein, J. M.; Haas, A. L. Ser(120) of Ubc2/Rad6 Regulates Ubiquitin-Dependent N-End Rule Targeting by E3{Alpha}/Ubr1. *J. Biol. Chem.* **2010**, 285, 41300–41309.

(171) Scott, D. C.; Sviderskiy, V. O.; Monda, J. K.; Lydeard, J. R.; Cho, S. E.; Harper, J. W.; Schulman, B. A. Structure of a RING E3 Trapped in Action Reveals Ligation Mechanism for the Ubiquitin-Like Protein NEDD8. *Cell* **2014**, *157*, 1671–1684.

(172) Rodrigo-Brenni, M. C.; Foster, S. A.; Morgan, D. O. Catalysis of Lysine 48-Specific Ubiquitin Chain Assembly by Residues in E2 and Ubiquitin. *Mol. Cell* **2010**, *39*, 548–559.

(173) Wickliffe, K. E.; Lorenz, S.; Wemmer, D. E.; Kuriyan, J.; Rape, M. The Mechanism of Linkage-Specific Ubiquitin Chain Elongation by a Single-Subunit E2. *Cell* **2011**, *144*, 769–781.

(174) Yamaguchi, M.; Noda, N. N.; Yamamoto, H.; Shima, T.; Kumeta, H.; Kobashigawa, Y.; Akada, R.; Ohsumi, Y.; Inagaki, F. Structural Insights into Atg10-Mediated Formation of the Autophagy-Essential Atg12-Atg5 Conjugate. *Structure* **2012**, *20*, 1244–1254.

(175) Sampson, D. A.; Wang, M.; Matunis, M. J. The Small Ubiquitin-Like Modifier-1 (SUMO-1) Consensus Sequence Mediates Ubc9 Binding and Is Essential for SUMO-1 Modification. *J. Biol. Chem.* **2001**, *276*, 21664–21669.

(176) Mizushima, N.; Noda, T.; Yoshimori, T.; Tanaka, Y.; Ishii, T.; George, M. D.; Klionsky, D. J.; Ohsumi, M.; Ohsumi, Y. A Protein Conjugation System Essential for Autophagy. *Nature* **1998**, *395*, 395– 398.

(177) Matsushita, M.; Suzuki, N. N.; Obara, K.; Fujioka, Y.; Ohsumi, Y.; Inagaki, F. Structure of Atg5.Atg16, a Complex Essential for Autophagy. J. Biol. Chem. 2007, 282, 6763–6772.

(178) Hanada, T.; Noda, N. N.; Satomi, Y.; Ichimura, Y.; Fujioka, Y.; Takao, T.; Inagaki, F.; Ohsumi, Y. The Atg12-Atg5 Conjugate Has a Novel E3-Like Activity for Protein Lipidation in Autophagy. *J. Biol. Chem.* **2007**, *282*, 37298–37302. (179) Eddins, M. J.; Carlile, C. M.; Gomez, K. M.; Pickart, C. M.; Wolberger, C. Mms2-Ubc13 Covalently Bound to Ubiquitin Reveals the Structural Basis of Linkage-Specific Polyubiquitin Chain Formation. *Nat. Struct. Mol. Biol.* **2006**, *13*, 915–920.

(180) Bencsath, K. P.; Podgorski, M. S.; Pagala, V. R.; Slaughter, C. A.; Schulman, B. A. Identification of a Multifunctional Binding Site on Ubc9p Required for Smt3p Conjugation. *J. Biol. Chem.* **2002**, *277*, 47938–47945.

(181) Knipscheer, P.; van Dijk, W. J.; Olsen, J. V.; Mann, M.; Sixma, T. K. Noncovalent Interaction between Ubc9 and SUMO Promotes SUMO Chain Formation. *EMBO J.* **2007**, *26*, 2797–2807.

(182) Alontaga, A. Y.; Ambaye, N. D.; Li, Y. J.; Vega, R.; Chen, C. H.; Bzymek, K. P.; Williams, J. C.; Hu, W.; Chen, Y. RWD Domain as an E2 (Ubc9)-Interaction Module. *J. Biol. Chem.* **2015**, *290*, 16550– 16559.

(183) Alontaga, A. Y.; Ambaye, N. D.; Li, Y. J.; Vega, R.; Chen, C. H.; Bzymek, K. P.; Williams, J. C.; Hu, W.; Chen, Y. Observation of an E2 (Ubc9)-Homodimer by Crystallography. *Data Brief* **2016**, *7*, 195–200.

(184) Page, R. C.; Pruneda, J. N.; Amick, J.; Klevit, R. E.; Misra, S. Structural Insights into the Conformation and Oligomerization of E2~Ubiquitin Conjugates. *Biochemistry* **2012**, *51*, 4175–4187.

(185) Klug, H.; Xaver, M.; Chaugule, V. K.; Koidl, S.; Mittler, G.; Klein, F.; Pichler, A. Ubc9 Sumoylation Controls SUMO Chain Formation and Meiotic Synapsis in Saccharomyces cerevisiae. *Mol. Cell* **2013**, *50*, 625–636.

(186) Ohki, Y.; Funatsu, N.; Konishi, N.; Chiba, T. The Mechanism of Poly-NEDD8 Chain Formation in Vitro. *Biochem. Biophys. Res. Commun.* **2009**, *381*, 443–447.

(187) Sun, H.; Leverson, J. D.; Hunter, T. Conserved Function of RNF4 Family Proteins in Eukaryotes: Targeting a Ubiquitin Ligase to SUMOylated Proteins. *EMBO J.* **200**7, *26*, 4102–4112.

(188) Prudden, J.; Pebernard, S.; Raffa, G.; Slavin, D. A.; Perry, J. J.; Tainer, J. A.; McGowan, C. H.; Boddy, M. N. SUMO-Targeted Ubiquitin Ligases in Genome Stability. *EMBO J.* **2007**, *26*, 4089– 4101.

(189) Hjerpe, R.; Thomas, Y.; Chen, J.; Zemla, A.; Curran, S.; Shpiro, N.; Dick, L. R.; Kurz, T. Changes in the Ratio of Free NEDD8 to Ubiquitin Triggers NEDDylation by Ubiquitin Enzymes. *Biochem. J.* **2012**, 441, 927–936.

(190) Leidecker, O.; Matic, I.; Mahata, B.; Pion, E.; Xirodimas, D. P. The Ubiquitin E1 Enzyme Ube1 Mediates NEDD8 Activation under Diverse Stress Conditions. *Cell Cycle* **2012**, *11*, 1142–1150.

(191) Fan, J. B.; Arimoto, K.; Motamedchaboki, K.; Yan, M.; Wolf, D. A.; Zhang, D. E. Identification and Characterization of a Novel ISG15-Ubiquitin Mixed Chain and Its Role in Regulating Protein Homeostasis. *Sci. Rep.* **2015**, *5*, 12704.

(192) Serniwka, S. A.; Shaw, G. S. The Structure of the UbcH8-Ubiquitin Complex Shows a Unique Ubiquitin Interaction Site. *Biochemistry* **2009**, *48*, 12169–12179.

(193) Pruneda, J. N.; Stoll, K. E.; Bolton, L. J.; Brzovic, P. S.; Klevit, R. E. Ubiquitin in Motion: Structural Studies of the Ubiquitin-Conjugating Enzyme Approximately Ubiquitin Conjugate. *Biochemistry* **2011**, *50*, 1624–1633.

(194) Pruneda, J. N.; Littlefield, P. J.; Soss, S. E.; Nordquist, K. A.; Chazin, W. J.; Brzovic, P. S.; Klevit, R. E. Structure of an E3:E2~Ub Complex Reveals an Allosteric Mechanism Shared among RING/U-Box Ligases. *Mol. Cell* **2012**, *47*, 933–942.

(195) Dou, H.; Buetow, L.; Sibbet, G. J.; Cameron, K.; Huang, D. T. BIRC7-E2 Ubiquitin Conjugate Structure Reveals the Mechanism of Ubiquitin Transfer by a RING Dimer. *Nat. Struct. Mol. Biol.* **2012**, *19*, 876–883.

(196) Brzovic, P. S.; Lissounov, A.; Christensen, D. E.; Hoyt, D. W.; Klevit, R. E. A UbcH5/Ubiquitin Noncovalent Complex Is Required for Processive BRCA1-Directed Ubiquitination. *Mol. Cell* **2006**, *21*, 873–880.

(197) Duda, D. M.; van Waardenburg, R. C.; Borg, L. A.; McGarity, S.; Nourse, A.; Waddell, M. B.; Bjornsti, M. A.; Schulman, B. A. Structure of a SUMO-Binding-Motif Mimic Bound to Smt3p-Ubc9p: Conservation of a Non-Covalent Ubiquitin-Like Protein-E2 Complex

as a Platform for Selective Interactions within a SUMO Pathway. J. Mol. Biol. 2007, 369, 619–630.

(198) Capili, A. D.; Lima, C. D. Structure and Analysis of a Complex between SUMO and Ubc9 Illustrates Features of a Conserved E2-Ubl Interaction. *J. Mol. Biol.* **2007**, *369*, 608–618.

(199) Tatham, M. H.; Kim, S.; Yu, B.; Jaffray, E.; Song, J.; Zheng, J.; Rodriguez, M. S.; Hay, R. T.; Chen, Y. Role of an N-Terminal Site of Ubc9 in SUMO-1, -2, and -3 Binding and Conjugation. *Biochemistry* **2003**, *42*, 9959–9969.

(200) Streich, F. C., Jr.; Lima, C. D. Capturing a Substrate in an Activated RING E3/E2-SUMO Complex. *Nature* **2016**, *536*, 304–308. (201) Lu, X.; Malley, K. R.; Brenner, C. C.; Koroleva, O.; Korolev, S.; Downes, B. P. A MUB E2 Structure Reveals E1 Selectivity between

Cognate Ubiquitin E2s in Eukaryotes. Nat. Commun. 2016, 7, 12580. (202) Kumar, P.; Magala, P.; Geiger-Schuller, K. R.; Majumdar, A.;

Tolman, J. R.; Wolberger, C. Role of a Non-Canonical Surface of Rad6 in Ubiquitin Conjugating Activity. *Nucleic Acids Res.* **2015**, *43*, 9039– 9050.

(203) Metzger, M. B.; Liang, Y. H.; Das, R.; Mariano, J.; Li, S.; Li, J.; Kostova, Z.; Byrd, R. A.; Ji, X.; Weissman, A. M. A Structurally Unique E2-Binding Domain Activates Ubiquitination by the ERAD E2, Ubc7p, through Multiple Mechanisms. *Mol. Cell* **2013**, *50*, 516–527.

(204) von Delbrück, M.; Kniss, A.; Rogov, V. V.; Pluska, L.; Bagola, K.; Löhr, F.; Güntert, P.; Sommer, T.; Dötsch, V. The CUE Domain of Cue1 Aligns Growing Ubiquitin Chains with Ubc7 for Rapid Elongation. *Mol. Cell* **2016**, *62*, 918–928.

(205) Aichem, A.; Catone, N.; Groettrup, M. Investigations into the Auto-FAT10ylation of the Bispecific E2 Conjugating Enzyme UBA6-Specific E2 Enzyme 1. *FEBS J.* **2014**, *281*, 1848–1859.

(206) Knipscheer, P.; Flotho, A.; Klug, H.; Olsen, J. V.; van Dijk, W. J.; Fish, A.; Johnson, E. S.; Mann, M.; Sixma, T. K.; Pichler, A. Ubc9 Sumoylation Regulates SUMO Target Discrimination. *Mol. Cell* **2008**, *31*, *371–382*.

(207) Li, W.; Bengtson, M. H.; Ulbrich, A.; Matsuda, A.; Reddy, V. A.; Orth, A.; Chanda, S. K.; Batalov, S.; Joazeiro, C. A. Genome-Wide and Functional Annotation of Human E3 Ubiquitin Ligases Identifies MULAN, a Mitochondrial E3 That Regulates the Organelle's Dynamics and Signaling. *PLoS One* **2008**, *3*, e1487.

(208) Zhao, C.; Beaudenon, S. L.; Kelley, M. L.; Waddell, M. B.; Yuan, W.; Schulman, B. A.; Huibregtse, J. M.; Krug, R. M. The UbcH8 Ubiquitin E2 Enzyme Is Also the E2 Enzyme for ISG15, an IFN-Alpha/Beta-Induced Ubiquitin-Like Protein. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U. S. A.* **2004**, *101*, 7578–7582.

(209) Wong, J. J.; Pung, Y. F.; Sze, N. S.; Chin, K. C. HERC5 Is an IFN-Induced HECT-Type E3 Protein Ligase That Mediates Type I IFN-Induced ISGylation of Protein Targets. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U. S.* A. **2006**, *103*, 10735–10740.

(210) Deshaies, R. J.; Joazeiro, C. A. RING Domain E3 Ubiquitin Ligases. *Annu. Rev. Biochem.* **2009**, *78*, 399–434.

(211) Lorick, K. L.; Jensen, J. P.; Fang, S.; Ong, A. M.; Hatakeyama, S.; Weissman, A. M. RING Fingers Mediate Ubiquitin-Conjugating Enzyme (E2)-Dependent Ubiquitination. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U. S. A.* **1999**, *96*, 11364–11369.

(212) Ohi, M. D.; Vander Kooi, C. W.; Rosenberg, J. A.; Chazin, W. J.; Gould, K. L. Structural Insights into the U-Box, a Domain Associated with Multi-Ubiquitination. *Nat. Struct. Biol.* **2003**, *10*, 250–255.

(213) Yunus, A. A.; Lima, C. D. Structure of the Siz/PIAS SUMO E3 Ligase Siz1 and Determinants Required for SUMO Modification of PCNA. *Mol. Cell* **2009**, *35*, 669–682.

(214) Kamura, T.; Conrad, M. N.; Yan, Q.; Conaway, R. C.; Conaway, J. W. The Rbx1 Subunit of SCF and VHL E3 Ubiquitin Ligase Activates Rub1 Modification of Cullins Cdc53 and Cul2. *Genes Dev.* **1999**, *13*, 2928–2933.

(215) Johnson, E. S.; Gupta, A. A. An E3-Like Factor That Promotes SUMO Conjugation to the Yeast Septins. *Cell* **2001**, *106*, 735–744.

(216) Zou, W.; Zhang, D. E. The Interferon-Inducible Ubiquitin-Protein Isopeptide Ligase (E3) EFP Also Functions as an ISG15 E3 Ligase. J. Biol. Chem. 2006, 281, 3989–3994. (217) Zheng, N.; Wang, P.; Jeffrey, P. D.; Pavletich, N. P. Structure of a c-Cbl-UbcH7 Complex: RING Domain Function in Ubiquitin-Protein Ligases. *Cell* **2000**, *102*, 533–539.

(218) Bijlmakers, M. J.; Teixeira, J. M.; Boer, R.; Mayzel, M.; Puig-Sàrries, P.; Karlsson, G.; Coll, M.; Pons, M.; Crosas, B. A C2HC Zinc Finger Is Essential for the RING-E2 Interaction of the Ubiquitin Ligase RNF125. *Sci. Rep.* **2016**, *6*, 29232.

(219) Das, R.; Mariano, J.; Tsai, Y. C.; Kalathur, R. C.; Kostova, Z.; Li, J.; Tarasov, S. G.; McFeeters, R. L.; Altieri, A. S.; Ji, X.; et al. Allosteric Activation of E2-RING Finger-Mediated Ubiquitylation by a Structurally Defined Specific E2-Binding Region of gp78. *Mol. Cell* **2009**, *34*, 674–685.

(220) Hibbert, R. G.; Huang, A.; Boelens, R.; Sixma, T. K. E3 Ligase Rad18 Promotes Monoubiquitination Rather Than Ubiquitin Chain Formation by E2 Enzyme Rad6. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U. S. A.* 2011, 108, 5590–5595.

(221) Das, R.; Liang, Y. H.; Mariano, J.; Li, J.; Huang, T.; King, A.; Tarasov, S. G.; Weissman, A. M.; Ji, X.; Byrd, R. A. Allosteric Regulation of E2:E3 Interactions Promote a Processive Ubiquitination Machine. *EMBO J.* **2013**, *32*, 2504–2516.

(222) Li, S.; Liang, Y. H.; Mariano, J.; Metzger, M. B.; Stringer, D. K.; Hristova, V. A.; Li, J.; Randazzo, P. A.; Tsai, Y. C.; Ji, X.; et al. Insights into Ubiquitination from the Unique Clamp-Like Binding of the RING E3 AO7 to the E2 UbcHSB. *J. Biol. Chem.* **2015**, *290*, 30225–30239.

(223) Hodson, C.; Purkiss, A.; Miles, J. A.; Walden, H. Structure of the Human FANCL RING-Ube2T Complex Reveals Determinants of Cognate E3-E2 Selection. *Structure* **2014**, *22*, 337–344.

(224) DaRosa, P. A.; Wang, Z.; Jiang, X.; Pruneda, J. N.; Cong, F.; Klevit, R. E.; Xu, W. Allosteric Activation of the RNF146 Ubiquitin Ligase by a Poly(ADP-ribosyl)ation Signal. *Nature* **2015**, *517*, 223– 226.

(225) Mascle, X. H.; Lussier-Price, M.; Cappadocia, L.; Estephan, P.; Raiola, L.; Omichinski, J. G.; Aubry, M. Identification of a Non-Covalent Ternary Complex Formed by PIAS1, SUMO1, and UBC9 Proteins Involved in Transcriptional Regulation. *J. Biol. Chem.* **2013**, 288, 36312–36327.

(226) Kim, A. Y.; Bommeljé, C. C.; Lee, B. E.; Yonekawa, Y.; Choi, L.; Morris, L. G.; Huang, G.; Kaufman, A.; Ryan, R. J.; Hao, B.; et al. SCCRO (DCUN1D1) Is an Essential Component of the E3 Complex for Neddylation. *J. Biol. Chem.* **2008**, *283*, 33211–33220.

(227) Scott, D. C.; Monda, J. K.; Grace, C. R.; Duda, D. M.; Kriwacki, R. W.; Kurz, T.; Schulman, B. A. A Dual E3 Mechanism for Rub1 Ligation to Cdc53. *Mol. Cell* **2010**, *39*, 784–796.

(228) Scott, D. C.; Monda, J. K.; Bennett, E. J.; Harper, J. W.; Schulman, B. A. N-Terminal Acetylation Acts as an Avidity Enhancer within an Interconnected Multiprotein Complex. *Science* **2011**, *334*, 674–678.

(229) Hodge, C. D.; Ismail, I. H.; Edwards, R. A.; Hura, G. L.; Xiao, A. T.; Tainer, J. A.; Hendzel, M. J.; Glover, J. N. RNF8 E3 Ubiquitin Ligase Stimulates Ubc13 E2 Conjugating Activity That Is Essential for DNA Double Strand Break Signaling and BRCA1 Tumor Suppressor Recruitment. J. Biol. Chem. 2016, 291, 9396–9410.

(230) Koliopoulos, M. G.; Esposito, D.; Christodoulou, E.; Taylor, I. A.; Rittinger, K. Functional Role of TRIM E3 Ligase Oligomerization and Regulation of Catalytic Activity. *EMBO J.* **2016**, *35*, 1204–1218.

(231) Wright, J. D.; Mace, P. D.; Day, C. L. Secondary Ubiquitin-RING Docking Enhances Arkadia and Ark2C E3 Ligase Activity. *Nat. Struct. Mol. Biol.* **2016**, *23*, 45–52.

(232) Zheng, N.; Schulman, B. A.; Song, L.; Miller, J. J.; Jeffrey, P. D.; Wang, P.; Chu, C.; Koepp, D. M.; Elledge, S. J.; Pagano, M.; et al. Structure of the Cul1-Rbx1-Skp1-F boxSkp2 SCF Ubiquitin Ligase Complex. *Nature* **2002**, *416*, 703–709.

(233) Spratt, D. E.; Wu, K.; Kovacev, J.; Pan, Z. Q.; Shaw, G. S. Selective Recruitment of an E2~Ubiquitin Complex by an E3 Ubiquitin Ligase. *J. Biol. Chem.* **2012**, *287*, 17374–17385.

(234) Brown, N. G.; VanderLinden, R.; Watson, E. R.; Weissmann, F.; Ordureau, A.; Wu, K. P.; Zhang, W.; Yu, S.; Mercredi, P. Y.; Harrison, J. S.; et al. Dual RING E3 Architectures Regulate Multiubiquitination and Ubiquitin Chain Elongation by APC/C. Cell 2016, 165, 1440–1453.

(235) McGinty, R. K.; Henrici, R. C.; Tan, S. Crystal Structure of the PRC1 Ubiquitylation Module Bound to the Nucleosome. *Nature* **2014**, 514, 591–596.

(236) Hoege, C.; Pfander, B.; Moldovan, G. L.; Pyrowolakis, G.; Jentsch, S. RAD6-Dependent DNA Repair Is Linked to Modification of PCNA by Ubiquitin and SUMO. *Nature* **2002**, *419*, 135–141.

(237) Pfander, B.; Moldovan, G. L.; Sacher, M.; Hoege, C.; Jentsch, S. SUMO-Modified PCNA Recruits Srs2 to Prevent Recombination During S Phase. *Nature* **2005**, *436*, 428–433.

(238) Pichler, A.; Gast, A.; Seeler, J. S.; Dejean, A.; Melchior, F. The Nucleoporin RanBP2 Has SUMO1 E3 Ligase Activity. *Cell* **2002**, *108*, 109–120.

(239) Pichler, A.; Knipscheer, P.; Saitoh, H.; Sixma, T. K.; Melchior, F. The RanBP2 SUMO E3 Ligase Is Neither HECT- nor RING-Type. *Nat. Struct. Mol. Biol.* **2004**, *11*, 984–991.

(240) Eisenhardt, N.; Chaugule, V. K.; Koidl, S.; Droescher, M.; Dogan, E.; Rettich, J.; Sutinen, P.; Imanishi, S. Y.; Hofmann, K.; Palvimo, J. J.; et al. A New Vertebrate SUMO Enzyme Family Reveals Insights into SUMO-Chain Assembly. *Nat. Struct. Mol. Biol.* **2015**, *22*, 959–967.

(241) Parker, J. L.; Ulrich, H. D. SIM-Dependent Enhancement of Substrate-Specific SUMOylation by a Ubiquitin Ligase in vitro. *Biochem. J.* **2014**, 457, 435–440.

(242) Tatsumi, K.; Sou, Y. S.; Tada, N.; Nakamura, E.; Iemura, S.; Natsume, T.; Kang, S. H.; Chung, C. H.; Kasahara, M.; Kominami, E.; et al. A Novel Type of E3 Ligase for the Ufm1 Conjugation System. *J. Biol. Chem.* **2010**, *285*, 5417–5427.

(243) Wei, Y.; Xu, X. FMylation: A Unique & Fashionable Modification for Life. *Genomics, Proteomics Bioinf.* **2016**, *14*, 140–146.

(244) Zhang, M.; Zhu, X.; Zhang, Y.; Cai, Y.; Chen, J.; Sivaprakasam, S.; Gurav, A.; Pi, W.; Makala, L.; Wu, J.; et al. RCAD/Ufl1, a Ufm1 E3 Ligase, Is Essential for Hematopoietic Stem Cell Function and Murine Hematopoiesis. *Cell Death Differ.* **2015**, *22*, 1922–1934.

(245) Cai, Y.; Pi, W.; Sivaprakasam, S.; Zhu, X.; Zhang, M.; Chen, J.; Makala, L.; Lu, C.; Wu, J.; Teng, Y.; et al. UFBP1, a Key Component of the Ufm1 Conjugation System, Is Essential for Ufmylation-Mediated Regulation of Erythroid Development. *PLoS Genet.* **2015**, *11*, e1005643.

(246) Fujioka, Y.; Noda, N. N.; Fujii, K.; Yoshimoto, K.; Ohsumi, Y.; Inagaki, F. In Vitro Reconstitution of Plant Atg8 and Atg12 Conjugation Systems Essential for Autophagy. *J. Biol. Chem.* **2008**, 283, 1921–1928.

(247) Otomo, C.; Metlagel, Z.; Takaesu, G.; Otomo, T. Structure of the Human ATG12~ATG5 Conjugate Required for LC3 Lipidation in Autophagy. *Nat. Struct. Mol. Biol.* **2013**, *20*, 59–66.

(248) Noda, N. N.; Fujioka, Y.; Hanada, T.; Ohsumi, Y.; Inagaki, F. Structure of the Atg12-Atg5 Conjugate Reveals a Platform for Stimulating Atg8-PE Conjugation. *EMBO Rep.* **2013**, *14*, 206–211.

(249) Ichimura, Y.; Imamura, Y.; Emoto, K.; Umeda, M.; Noda, T.; Ohsumi, Y. In Vivo and in Vitro Reconstitution of Atg8 Conjugation Essential for Autophagy. *J. Biol. Chem.* **2004**, *279*, 40584–40592.

(250) Sakoh-Nakatogawa, M.; Matoba, K.; Asai, E.; Kirisako, H.; Ishii, J.; Noda, N. N.; Inagaki, F.; Nakatogawa, H.; Ohsumi, Y. Atg12-Atg5 Conjugate Enhances E2 Activity of Atg3 by Rearranging Its Catalytic Site. *Nat. Struct. Mol. Biol.* **2013**, *20*, 433–439.

(251) Fujioka, Y.; Noda, N. N.; Nakatogawa, H.; Ohsumi, Y.; Inagaki, F. Dimeric Coiled-Coil Structure of Saccharomyces cerevisiae Atg16 and Its Functional Significance in Autophagy. *J. Biol. Chem.* **2010**, *285*, 1508–1515.

(252) Fujita, N.; Itoh, T.; Omori, H.; Fukuda, M.; Noda, T.; Yoshimori, T. The Atg16L Complex Specifies the Site of LC3 Lipidation for Membrane Biogenesis in Autophagy. *Mol. Biol. Cell* **2008**, *19*, 2092–2100.

(253) Dooley, H. C.; Razi, M.; Polson, H. E.; Girardin, S. E.; Wilson, M. I.; Tooze, S. A. WIP12 Links LC3 Conjugation with PI3P, Autophagosome Formation, and Pathogen Clearance by Recruiting Atg12-5-16L1. *Mol. Cell* **2014**, *55*, 238-252.

(254) Juris, L.; Montino, M.; Rube, P.; Schlotterhose, P.; Thumm, M.; Krick, R. PI3P Binding by Atg21 Organises Atg8 Lipidation. *EMBO J.* **2015**, *34*, 955–973.

(255) Sakoh-Nakatogawa, M.; Kirisako, H.; Nakatogawa, H.; Ohsumi, Y. Localization of Atg3 to Autophagy-Related Membranes and Its Enhancement by the Atg8-Family Interacting Motif to Promote Expansion of the Membranes. *FEBS Lett.* **2015**, *589*, 744– 749.

(256) Knorr, R. L.; Nakatogawa, H.; Ohsumi, Y.; Lipowsky, R.; Baumgart, T.; Dimova, R. Membrane Morphology Is Actively Transformed by Covalent Binding of the Protein Atg8 to PE-Lipids. *PLoS One* **2014**, *9*, e115357.

(257) Nath, S.; Dancourt, J.; Shteyn, V.; Puente, G.; Fong, W. M.; Nag, S.; Bewersdorf, J.; Yamamoto, A.; Antonny, B.; Melia, T. J. Lipidation of the LC3/GABARAP Family of Autophagy Proteins Relies on a Membrane-Curvature-Sensing Domain in Atg3. *Nat. Cell Biol.* **2014**, *16*, 415–424.

(258) An, H.; Statsyuk, A. V. Facile Synthesis of Covalent Probes to Capture Enzymatic Intermediates During E1 Enzyme Catalysis. *Chem. Commun.* **2016**, *52*, 2477–2480.

(259) McKenna, S.; Moraes, T.; Pastushok, L.; Ptak, C.; Xiao, W.; Spyracopoulos, L.; Ellison, M. J. An NMR-Based Model of the Ubiquitin-Bound Human Ubiquitin Conjugation Complex Mms2.Ubc13. The Structural Basis for Lysine 63 Chain Catalysis. *J. Biol. Chem.* **2003**, *278*, 13151–13158.

(260) Middleton, A. J.; Budhidarmo, R.; Day, C. L. Use of E2~Ubiquitin Conjugates for the Characterization of Ubiquitin Transfer by RING E3 Ligases Such as the Inhibitor of Apoptosis Proteins. *Methods Enzymol.* **2014**, *545*, 243–263.

(261) Sung, P.; Prakash, S.; Prakash, L. Stable Ester Conjugate between the Saccharomyces cerevisiae RAD6 Protein and Ubiquitin Has No Biological Activity. *J. Mol. Biol.* **1991**, *221*, 745–749.

(262) Sullivan, M. L.; Vierstra, R. D. Formation of a Stable Adduct between Ubiquitin and the Arabidopsis Ubiquitin-Conjugating Enzyme, AtUBC1+. *J. Biol. Chem.* **1993**, *268*, 8777–8780.

(263) Miura, T.; Klaus, W.; Gsell, B.; Miyamoto, C.; Senn, H. Characterization of the Binding Interface between Ubiquitin and Class I Human Ubiquitin-Conjugating Enzyme 2b by Multidimensional Heteronuclear NMR Spectroscopy in Solution. *J. Mol. Biol.* **1999**, *290*, 213–228.

(264) Kamadurai, H. B.; Souphron, J.; Scott, D. C.; Duda, D. M.; Miller, D. J.; Stringer, D.; Piper, R. C.; Schulman, B. A. Insights into Ubiquitin Transfer Cascades from a Structure of a UbcH5B Approximately Ubiquitin-HECT(NEDD4L) Complex. *Mol. Cell* **2009**, 36, 1095–1102.

(265) Juang, Y. C.; Landry, M. C.; Sanches, M.; Vittal, V.; Leung, C. C.; Ceccarelli, D. F.; Mateo, A. R.; Pruneda, J. N.; Mao, D. Y.; Szilard, R. K.; et al. OTUB1 Co-Opts Lys48-Linked Ubiquitin Recognition to Suppress E2 Enzyme Function. *Mol. Cell* **2012**, *45*, 384–397.

(266) Soss, S. E.; Klevit, R. E.; Chazin, W. J. Activation of UbcHSc~Ub Is the Result of a Shift in Interdomain Motions of the Conjugate Bound to U-Box E3 Ligase E4B. *Biochemistry* **2013**, *52*, 2991–2999.

(267) Wiener, R.; DiBello, A. T.; Lombardi, P. M.; Guzzo, C. M.; Zhang, X.; Matunis, M. J.; Wolberger, C. E2 Ubiquitin-Conjugating Enzymes Regulate the Deubiquitinating Activity of OTUB1. *Nat. Struct. Mol. Biol.* **2013**, *20*, 1033–1039.

(268) Pruneda, J. N.; Smith, F. D.; Daurie, A.; Swaney, D. L.; Villén, J.; Scott, J. D.; Stadnyk, A. W.; Le Trong, I.; Stenkamp, R. E.; Klevit, R. E.; et al. E2~Ub Conjugates Regulate the Kinase Activity of Shigella Effector OspG During Pathogenesis. *EMBO J.* **2014**, *33*, 437–449.

(269) Choi, Y. S.; Lee, Y. J.; Lee, S. Y.; Shi, L.; Ha, J. H.; Cheong, H. K.; Cheong, C.; Cohen, R. E.; Ryu, K. S. Differential Ubiquitin Binding by the Acidic Loops of Ube2g1 and Ube2r1 Enzymes Distinguishes Their Lys-48-Ubiquitylation Activities. *J. Biol. Chem.* **2015**, *290*, 2251–2263.

(270) Merkley, N.; Barber, K. R.; Shaw, G. S. Ubiquitin Manipulation by an E2 Conjugating Enzyme Using a Novel Covalent Intermediate. *J. Biol. Chem.* **2005**, *280*, 31732–31738. (271) Grishin, A. M.; Condos, T. E.; Barber, K. R.; Campbell-Valois, F. X.; Parsot, C.; Shaw, G. S.; Cygler, M. Structural Basis for the Inhibition of Host Protein Ubiquitination by Shigella Effector Kinase OspG. *Structure* **2014**, *22*, 878–888.

(272) Lorenz, S.; Bhattacharyya, M.; Feiler, C.; Rape, M.; Kuriyan, J. Crystal Structure of a Ube2S-Ubiquitin Conjugate. *PLoS One* **2016**, *11*, e0147550.

(273) Wiener, R.; Zhang, X.; Wang, T.; Wolberger, C. The Mechanism of OTUB1-Mediated Inhibition of Ubiquitination. *Nature* **2012**, 483, 618–622.

(274) Chang, L.; Zhang, Z.; Yang, J.; McLaughlin, S. H.; Barford, D. Atomic Structure of the APC/C and Its Mechanism of Protein Ubiquitination. *Nature* **2015**, *522*, 450–454.

(275) Middleton, A. J.; Day, C. L. The Molecular Basis of Lysine 48 Ubiquitin Chain Synthesis by Ube2K. *Sci. Rep.* **2015**, *5*, 16793.

(276) Lechtenberg, B. C.; Rajput, A.; Sanishvili, R.; Dobaczewska, M. K.; Ware, C. F.; Mace, P. D.; Riedl, S. J. Structure of a HOIP/ E2~Ubiquitin Complex Reveals RBR E3 Ligase Mechanism and Regulation. *Nature* **2016**, *529*, 546–550.

(277) Mulder, M. P.; Witting, K.; Berlin, I.; Pruneda, J. N.; Wu, K. P.; Chang, J.-G.; Merkx, R.; Bialas, J.; Groettrup, M.; Vertegaal, A. C. O.; et al. A Cascading Activity-Based Probe Sequentially Targets E1-E2-E3 Ubiquitin Enzymes. *Nat. Chem. Biol.* **2016**, *12*, 523–530.

(278) Kamadurai, H. B.; Qiu, Y.; Deng, A.; Harrison, J. S.; Macdonald, C.; Actis, M.; Rodrigues, P.; Miller, D. J.; Souphron, J.; Lewis, S. M.; et al. Mechanism of Ubiquitin Ligation and Lysine Prioritization by a HECT E3. *eLife* **2013**, *2*, e00828.

(279) Brown, N. G.; VanderLinden, R.; Watson, E. R.; Qiao, R.; Grace, C. R.; Yamaguchi, M.; Weissmann, F.; Frye, J. J.; Dube, P.; Ei Cho, S.; et al. RING E3 Mechanism for Ubiquitin Ligation to a Disordered Substrate Visualized for Human Anaphase-Promoting Complex. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U. S. A.* **2015**, *112*, 5272–5279.